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Riley: All right, we’re a go.
Baker: 10:00 on the button.

Riley: All right. I had hoped that when Jim agreed to come with me that I could just turn the
recorder on and let the two of you discuss this.

Young: No, he replaced me.

Riley: He told me last night he’s not going to allow me to get away with that, so | get the
privilege of asking the first question. We have all read the book, which is a fabulous book, very
rich detail, and | know we can’t reproduce everything here, don’t want to reproduce everything
here. We’d like to be able to move beyond that.

Baker: And also read Work Hard, Study...and Keep Out of Politics!
Riley: Yes. I’ve read bits of it. | have not read the whole thing.
Young: It was published in 2006.

Riley: Right, but the piece of it related to this | have looked at. | want to go back and ask you a
question about the transition from [Ronald] Reagan to [George H.W.] Bush, which is notable, |
think, on three dimensions. Let me throw this out there and get you to respond if you would.

Baker: Right.

Riley: The first is that historically, it’s a very unusual situation, with a two-term President,
followed by a President of the same party, Vice President.

Baker: Not since 1836 or something. When was Martin VVan Buren?
Riley: Eighteen thirty-six, that’s exactly right, so almost historically unprecedented.

Baker: Yes.
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Riley: I don’t know whether you would agree or not, but Reagan left some big shoes to be filled,
and | wonder if that creates a problem for a new administration coming in. The second
dimension of the question is we’ve heard from people that we’ve talked with from the Bush
project that in some ways friendly transitions are more difficult.

Baker: They’re not easy.

Riley: And then the third thing is that when you come in, you’ve got a huge array of issues to
deal with, particularly in the foreign policy community, with a lot of things going on, and there’s
just a question in transitioning, how you manage to figure out what your priorities are in that
environment. So let me start and throw that out for you and see if any of it—

Baker: Well, first of all, I think it’s clearly different. I’ve been through transitions both ways. |
do think a friendly transition can sometimes be more difficult, at least very difficult. Why?
Because the new President has got to be seen to be the new leader, and in running for office he—
and particularly one who has been an incumbent Vice President for two terms to a successful
President, like Bush was to Reagan—has got to continue to support the policies of his
predecessor, but also has to carve out a niche for himself and carve out an identity for himself
and a persona for himself. So in those respects, it’s somewhat more difficult.

If you read my book, you read about the debate in the yellow room of the White House on the
[Manuel] Noriega issue, where for the first time, Vice President Bush really disagreed with the
administration’s position. | was a member of the NSC [National Security Council] at that time,
but I knew where | was going to end up, and | was Treasury Secretary, and we had a spirited
discussion about what we were going to do on Noriega. We carved out a little bit of a separate
agenda and identity.

Also, you have to be seen to be proceeding—George Bush would say, “With all due prudence.”
Prudence was a word he really liked. We got some flak at the beginning about the pause in the
U.S./Soviet relationship, but that was very intentional. That was intentional not just for a foreign
policy purpose, but it was intentional for a political purpose as well, because we didn’t want to
be subject to a charge that we were doing nothing but copycatting and following along. We
wanted to have our own prism on it, our own imprimatur on that relationship—at that time, at the
height of the Cold War, probably the most important foreign policy relationship. So we
consciously did that.

Now, people have written—I think President Bush and Brent [Scowcroft] in their joint book
even acknowledged that we didn’t do the review as well as we probably should have. | don’t
know whether | opined on that or not at the time. | would agree with that assessment, that we
probably didn’t. I think it was the right thing to do, | think it was a very worthwhile thing to do,
and whatever little flak we caught didn’t cost us anything when you look at the concrete
accomplishments that followed in terms of the U.S./Soviet relationship, the fact that we brought
the Cold War to a peaceful conclusion. The Cold War didn’t have to end peacefully. It could
have ended very violently.

Young: Why was the report not useful to you, the review, if it’s just mush or something?
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Baker: Well, number one, it didn’t discover any flaws in the prior approach, so it didn’t mean
we’re going to change the approach, and so we had the review. | think someone wrote, | can’t
remember who, and said it was pablum.

Young: “Mush,” | think was the word used.
Baker: Mush. Thank you. Who wrote that?
Strong: You’re quoted with that word, but whether it was at the time or later, | don’t recall.

Baker: It’s my word. Okay. But should we have gone? Look, I’m sitting there now as Secretary

of State. | came up through the political channel. | was the President’s political advisor and there
was never any question in my mind that we should do that. It was the right thing to do politically,
and if we discovered something, that would have been great, but we didn’t.

Riley: Did you have the right people working on it?

Baker: I don’t remember who we had working on it. We had the bureaucracy working on it, so
maybe we didn’t have the right people.

Strong: Everybody was working on it, you’re right. | think that’s part of the problem.
Young: So it bought you some time, in a way, to get your own principles.

Baker: It showed that we were deliberate, that we were thoughtful, that we were not just going
to jJump in here and say everything is going to go exactly the way—a new President has to carve
out his own identity. We saw the same thing happening in terms of his leadership with the
alliance, and we had the initial tensions, if you remember, with Margaret Thatcher, who was a
wonderful friend and a terrific Prime Minister of the UK [United Kingdom]. But Reagan was so
strong, so powerful, and so secure in his own skin he’d let her speak for the United States. Well,
we couldn’t do that. The United States has to be the leader of the alliance.

If you read my book, you read about the debate on short-range nuclear forces and the differences
between the Germans and the Brits on all of that. That was a similar kind of thing, and from a
political standpoint we needed to do that.

It turned out we didn’t need to do it substantively, but what did it cost us? Nothing. It gave some
heartburn to some people who were way overthinking, and maybe thinking we should go even
faster. We gave [Mikhail] Gorbachev a little bit of grief because he couldn’t figure out exactly
what we were doing, but by May it was over. After my meeting with [Eduard] Shevardnadze, at
the Conventional Forces, CFE [Conventional Forces in Europe] talks in Vienna, and that may
have been in March, maybe it was a little later than that, but from about that time on. Then by
July the President had told us, “I want you to arrange a summit.” He told me and Brent on the
porch of the U.S. Ambassador’s residence in Paris. So do | think it cost the country anything?
Absolutely not. Do I think it was the right thing to do? I absolutely do think it was the right thing
to do.
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Strong: But let me ask you a question about that, because when it’s going on, the pause, there’s
criticism in the press, there’s criticism among the elite opinion makers. Did that bother the
President at all?

Baker: | call them the “thumb-suckers.”
Strong: The “thumb-suckers,” okay. Did that bother the President at all?

Baker: You’d obviously rather not be criticized, but George Bush knows that that comes with
the territory. You’re going to get that. You show me a President who can’t take the criticism and
I’ll show you an unsuccessful President. No, | don’t think a lot. When he decided by May—it
was in July that he actually said, “I want you to do this.”

Strong: But May is the series of public speeches he gives in Detroit and College Station, and
then at the Coast Guard Academy, and then the trip to Europe, where the culmination of
reporting on where we’re headed comes out.

Baker: That’s correct. Now, when was the NATO summit?
Strong: It’s in June, | think.

Baker: In June, just before he told us.

Strong: Yes.

Baker: Where | knew that we were really getting ready to engage full time, seriously, and in a
rapid way with the Soviets is when he agreed with me that we needed to do something dramatic,
to overshadow the SNF [strategic nuclear forces] debate, and we did the great big CFE reduction.
He had to call the Secretary of Defense and Bill Crowe particularly, who was Chairman of the
Joint Chiefs, and say, “I want this done. Don’t come back and tell me why this can’t be done, |
want it done.” That was a big move. That was the move he had to make to be seen to be leader of
the alliance, and it did it. When he did that | think it became apparent to those of us inside that
we were going to move on the U.S./Soviet relationship.

I can’t think of any other examples of—well, there are other examples of how tough it is to
transition. I’m quite confident that as close as | am to the Reagan administration, having been his
Chief of Staff for four years and the Treasury Secretary, I’m sure that there were people with
him, around him, who probably had a little bit of difficulty with a kinder, gentler nation, but
that’s something you had to do. As | point out in Work Hard, Study...and Keep Out of Politics!
maybe it was politics, diplomacy. At the beginning of the Bush administration there were only
two people left from the Reagan team of any rank, the Vice President and me. The rest of them
were all—they didn’t go on into the next administration. Some of his staff did, but nobody in a
position of substantial responsibility.

Strong: Let me come back to one of your earlier observations. Does being a good Vice
President, and George Bush gets credit for being a good Vice President—

Baker: Does he ever, boy, I’m telling you.
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Strong: Does it do you harm when you then run on your own or take office as a successor?

Baker: It doesn’t do you harm if you can find a way to convince the people that you’re your own
person, that you’ve got your own ideas, that it’s not just a cookie-cutter, repeat type thing, just
the same thing all over again. And I think Bush was—nbut it just makes the job tougher, because
there was no way that he could have or would have separated himself from Reagan until the time
came at the very end when he was going to go out and run himself. He was a terrific Vice
President. You never caught him quoted. He didn’t say in the private meetings what his views
were. He saved all that for the lunches with Reagan, because he knew there were no secrets in
Washington and people loved to juxtapose the Vice President against the President. Harder to do
for a guy who has been an incumbent Vice President.

Strong: And you said at the end there were only two senior people who had been there through
the Reagan years.

Baker: That’s right.
Strong: What about at the second or third tier of appointments across the departments?

Baker: Well, do you remember? We asked everybody to step down, if I’m not mistaken. Again,
the idea is you’ve got to show that the guy’s his own person; it’s a new day. That doesn’t mean
you don’t ask some of them to stay. I’m sure a lot of them were asked to stay. Certainly you
didn’t have any—the careers all stayed, but I think maybe some of the political—I mean, about
Ambassadors now, but then you had that throughout the government.

Strong: Right.

Baker: So everybody was asked, if I’m not mistaken, to give the President their resignation.
That’s the way it should work.

Young: In your book The Politics of Diplomacy you start off with Nicaragua and Central
America, and that struck me. Here’s the Secretary of State, and you’re going to Congress. You
point that out in the book.

Baker: I tell people my first major negotiation was not with a foreign power, it was with the
Congress of the United States. It was. And boy, was that a departure from the Reagan years. |
think I wrote in the book that the wars in Central America were the Holy Grail for the left in this
country and the right in this country.

Young: And the right.

Baker: Early on | went to the President and said, “If we can take this out of the domestic
political debate, we can solve the foreign policy problem.” I give Jimmy Carter a lot of credit for
working with us to get that done. | don’t think [Daniel] Ortega would have stepped down if
Carter hadn’t been there to coax him to agree to live with the results of the election. But there
was no way you were going to solve that problem until you solved the problem in the United
States between the left and the right on Capitol Hill.
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Young: You remarked in the book about the importance of trying to establish a foundation of
some bipartisan consensus for the work you were going to be doing in foreign affairs. And this
was a thorn, that bitter partisanship and dispute.

Baker: It was bitter.

Young: It was very bitter and there was a lot of resentment, and you had to negotiate it out of the
way.

Baker: We had to get it out of the way, and remember this, that the Iran-Contras thing revolved
around those wars. | would argue that that was the only real blot on the Reagan Presidency. But
there were some partisans up on Capitol Hill who were ready to see it resolved too, and | give
[Christopher] Dodd and some people like that who were really hard over—but they were willing
to negotiate and agreed to live with the results of an election, if we could get an election. We
finally got both sides to say they would live with the results, and then we had to make sure that
Ortega stepped down. But that was really a signal accomplishment, and it happened early on.

If you read The Politics of Diplomacy, you saw where Boyden Gray, the White House Counsel,
went out the day after we announced the agreement and said it was unconstitutional. Damn, did
that piss me off. It was a hell of an accomplishment, but the President called him in and read him
the riot act. [laughter] It was the last—what were they calling it—a one House veto or some kind
of thing. | can’t remember all the stuff.

Strong: He is right, it is unconstitutional. It was still the right thing to do.

Baker: Absolutely right thing to do. He may have been right but he wasn’t right going out and
saying that, I’ll tell you that, and the President didn’t think he was right doing that either. He
jumped all over him.

Strong: Can | ask you about another issue early on? The John Tower nomination. The President
sticks with him to the bitter end and sticks with him even after Tower is willing to step aside and
end this whole business.

Baker: Does he? | didn’t remember that. Did Tower come to tell the—

Strong: Tower had two conversations where he said, “If you want me to, | can step out of this.”
One was with [C.] Boyden Gray; one was with the President. Both times he gets a response; once
directly from the President, once indirectly from the President. “No, you will not step down; we
are going to stick with you.” I’'m just curious, is sticking with your friend who’s in the midst of
that controversy the best political decision?

Baker: Yes, it was, at least to stick with him that long, because the way the opposition wounds a
new President is to deny him confirmation of his Cabinet.

Strong: This is the first time a new President is denied a Cabinet nomination on the floor.
They’re denied Cabinet nominations when withdrawals take place. That’s pretty common.

Baker: But the denial—so you’re saying, why did you force it to a vote.
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Strong: Right.

Baker: Let me say that | was probably involved in those discussions, and I’m sure | was, but |
think it shows that the President was going to stick with his people. There was a feeling that this
was sour grapes on the part of a lot of people. A very fine public servant and an extraordinarily
good friend of mine in effect led the charge, and that was Sam Nunn. Sam of course had been on
Armed Services with John, and | think there were some problems there. That’s not to say that
John was a paragon of virtue, because he sure as hell wasn’t. But | think the political calculus
was that we should not be seen to be throwing—Ronald Reagan used to always say, “I’m never
going to throw anybody off the sleigh to try and appease the wolves, because that won’t appease
them, it will just whet their appetite for more.” He used to say, and I think this is George Bush’s
philosophy, “Loyalty up, loyalty down.”

Strong: You actually say that’s really at the core of George Bush’s character.
Baker: It is.
Strong: Is he unusual among the constellation of Presidents and politicians in how loyal he is?

Baker: He’s really loyal and he’s not going to throw somebody over the side just to appease the
crowd. But one thing I won’t do for you and I never have done it, and 1’ve worked for four
Presidents. | never compare. I tell people, “I don’t do windows, | don’t do floors, and | don’t do
comparisons.” | get the question all the time, because | worked for [Gerald] Ford and Reagan and
Bush | and [George W.] Bush II.

Strong: Bob Gates, in his memoir, says the same thing you do. This is a President, George
Herbert Walker, who is unusually loyal to the people who work for him. He says that mattered a
great deal; it was part of why we had such a successful team. But then he goes on to say there
were also occasions when he was loyal to a fault and did things for foreign leaders, did things for
members of his administration that didn’t always get reciprocated.

Baker: I think that’s probably true. In the lead-up to the second term, he could have and should
have made some changes. It’s not his nature to do that, and yet there were times when | know he
would have liked to have had some changes. | know that. I’m not going to talk about
personalities, but I know that.

Riley: Sure.
Baker: Tell me what else Bob said. You said in terms of foreign leaders—

Strong: He says he was sometimes loyal to a fault, and sometimes was loyal to foreign leaders
and members of his own team when they did not fully reciprocate his loyalty.

Baker: Oh, I now remember what | was trying to recall. In one of my books, maybe Work Hard,
Study...and Keep Out of Politics!, | talk about the time that | screwed up the State of the Union. |
had a meeting with [Alexander] Bessmertnykh and he went out and he announced something that
really hadn’t happened in the meeting, and it got in the way. And instead of coming down on me
with hobnail boots, the President said, “Oh, | understand, don’t worry about it.” But | was really

J. Baker, 3/17/11 8
© 2011 The Rector and Visitors of the University of Virginia and the George Bush Presidential Library Foundation



chagrined about it. That’s the way he was. You know, in our administration—I want to repeat
what I said in my book; I’m sure Bob said this too—we made the national security apparatus
work the way it was supposed to work. It was the exception to the rule and it was because of
George Bush, because he knew how it was supposed to operate.

There was one news story in the initial year or something about how the NSC [National Security
Council] was taking over foreign policy and the State Department was being left behind, one of

these thumb-sucking stories that you get all the time. He picked up the phone and called me and

said, “I want you and Susan [Garrett Baker] to come up to Camp David this weekend.” That was
the end of it. We never had another story like that, never another story.

Dick Cheney went out and said, “Gorbachev’s going to fail.” I picked up the phone, I called the
President, and said, “You can’t have this.” Well, Bob Gates was going to give a speech that ran
counter. | said, “You can’t do this. We’ve got to speak with one voice.” He said, “You’re right.”
He didn’t like that he had to cancel the Gates speech. He didn’t like to do that, because that
created a problem within his inner family there, particularly with Brent. But with the Cheney
thing, it was quick, and they went out there and they cut the ground out from under Dick quicker
than you could imagine, because you can’t have disparate public positions—this is one of the
problems that’s happening today. Everybody feels like they’ve got to go out and say something
in response to the latest news story, and so the message is all diffused and diverse. You’ve got to
have one message, and that’s the way President Bush was. He knew how the national security
apparatus ought to work and he made it work that way.

Young: So the foreign policy of the national security team, there were probably some deep
differences among you, within.

Baker: Not too much.

Young: Or some disagreements.

Baker: Well, let me tell you what I think.
Young: But it rarely got out.

Baker: We didn’t have the backbiting and backstabbing and leaking on each other. We didn’t
have that. We worked as a team. And | wrote that the main thing was the leadership of our
President, because he knew how it ought to work. The second thing was we had all been friends
in other iterations. Now, in terms of substantive differences, Dick was a little different. He had a
more hard-line view, which emerged later in the 43 administration, | think, than some of the rest
of us. But in terms of our approach and how do you walk the line between idealism, our
principles and values on the one hand and our national interests on the other—Scowcroft, Baker,
Bush, [Colin] Powell, we were all on the same wavelength, and Dick was a little bit different.
But Dick was the kind of guy when he knew where the President was, that’s where he would be.
He was that way with Ford, who was a very moderate President.

Young: With respect to the general, what the United States does, as the news keeps coming out
of the Soviet Union—you referred to it as the recognition of the decline of an empire. There were
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two schools of thought about this. One is the weaker they get, the more they tend to break up, the
better it is for the United States. Don’t help them out of their dilemma or whatever it amounts to.

Baker: Right, right.
Young: That was your view and | imagine President Bush’s also.
Baker: And Brent’s and Colin’s.

Young: There were people who were saying, “Gorbachev, he’s just playing, he’s tricking you.”
This goes way back, even to the Reagan administration.

Baker: “He’s tricking you?” There were a lot of people who said that?

Young: Where was that view located in your time in the executive branch? Was it in the
building anywhere?

Baker: That he was tricking us?
Young: No, no, this is in Reagan’s time.
Baker: Reagan was leaning way forward at the end of his—

Young: Right, but there was a hard-line point of view, some kind of point of view, a very
conservative point of view, “Don’t deal with Gorbachev. Gorbachev is just another one of
those—"

Baker: Well, I can’t answer where it was. | will say this, that initially, I think Bob Gates, | think
Brent, were more Cold-Warrior types. Bob wanted to give that speech. | read that speech and
said, “We can’t do that.” And that speech basically said, “We’ve got to be careful.” But the
President and | and Brent fairly quickly came to the conclusion that these guys were genuine
reformers, that we should work with them, that we could work with them, and that we ought to
hope that they would succeed in their perestroika and glasnost.

Now, when did that happen? Certainly by the time of Malta. Malta was the first year, December.
I concluded that—what | wrote in my book—with Shevardnadze before that. All he did was
regale me with tales about how bad things were in the Soviet Union when we would meet. |
never had an instance where he told me something and didn’t live up to it. He used to have to act
sometimes, in the arms control meetings we would have, to satisfy his generals, and you could
tell when it was happening. In German unification, he had to attack.

Young: So most of you were onboard with the general approach, with your principles.
Baker: Yes.
Young: For dealing with the changing world.

Baker: I think so. We were onboard to the extent of feeling that there’s evidence that these guys
are genuine reformers and we ought to see if we can help them reform the system over there, and
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that we don’t lose anything by doing that, and that we’re better off doing that, than if we take this
hard-line approach.

Young: To the U.S. national interest to do that.

Baker: We thought it was in our national interests. And hey, by the way, it turned out to be in
our national interest.

Riley: I want to come back and ask a question. You said that the national security apparatus
worked the way that it was supposed to in this administration. Is it replicable?

Baker: Only if you get people—personnel is policy. First, you’ve got to have a strong President
who understands how it’s supposed to work and makes it work that way. Secondly, you’ve got to
have people in the principal positions who respect each other, who are collegial in their
approach, who have been friends in prior iterations maybe. | keep saying we were and are the
exception to the rule. You look back; I defy you to find another administration where the
national security apparatus worked as seamlessly as it did in ours. In every one of them you will
find fighting and backbiting and bitching and leaking and all that stuff.

Young: That was in the Reagan years.

Baker: He had eight National Security Advisers, eight. He was a very successful President and
is now voted the most successful we’ve had, even in front of Abraham Lincoln in a recent poll,
but eight, eight. I’ve also arrogantly written—and he wrote this in his book by the way—that if
he’d approved the job swap that Mike Deaver and | had worked out, where he would have
become Chief of Staff and | would have been National Security Adviser, we wouldn’t have had
Iran-Contra. And we wouldn’t have, we wouldn’t have. Again, that’s a very self-serving thing
for me to say, but it’s what | believe.

Riley: If Tower had survived, would the chemistry have been any different?

Baker: Yes, it would have been different. It’s probably a really good thing for me that we ended
up with Dick.

Riley: Why is that?

Baker: A lot of people were responsible for my political career and my public service career, but
no one was any more responsible than Dick Cheney. George Bush obviously was right up there
at the top, but Dick is the guy that pulled me out of obscurity. He was a 32-year-old White House
Chief of Staff, and he went into the bowels of the Commerce Department and pulled the Deputy
Secretary over.

Rog [Rogers] Morton had a lot to do with that. I’d worked for him as Commerce Secretary; he
wanted me over at the campaign. When Ford’s delegate hunter against Reagan was killed in an
automobile accident, they came to me. That wouldn’t have happened without Cheney. And then
after the primary, after we won the fight with Reagan for the nomination, barely, they asked me
to be Chair of the President Ford Committee in 1976, because Rog by that time had prostate
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cancer. They needed to make a change, and that was as much Dick Cheney—it was Dick Cheney
and Stu [Stuart] Spencer, Bob Teeter, people like that.

There were a lot of people. You know if you look back and you say but for this or that, it’s true,
but that’s one thing. | was probably better off with Dick Cheney. We were buddies, we were
close, we’d go on pack trips into the mountains in Wyoming.

Young: It might have been a different story, are you saying?

Baker: If Tower. The question was would it have been. Yes, it would have been. It might not
have been quite as collegial. Tower had been Chairman of the Armed Services Committee. He
might have seen himself as senior to a young upstart, former Democrat and Secretary of State. |
don’t know, John was a good friend, I got along well with John, but he was a man of strong
views, and | think he would have been out there. Well, he was a Senator too. He’d been a
Senator and as Chairman of Armed Services. He’s used to articulating his own view of foreign

policy.

Well, the Secretary of State is supposed to be the President’s spokesman on foreign policy, and
in President Bush’s administration he made sure that was the case. Of course | had been his
political person too, so nobody could ever challenge my bona fides politically, and foreigners
knew when | spoke | was speaking for him, because we had been in a 40-year friendship. And |
also wrote that if you want to be a successful Secretary of State, the most important ingredient is
to have a good relationship with your President.

I’m not going to mention names, but you look back and see where the Secretary of State and the
President are not really close, it doesn’t work for the Secretary of State, because everybody
wants a piece of that foreign policy turf, everybody, and you need a President who is going to
protect you and support you and defend you even when you’re wrong, which is what Bush did
for me.

Riley: Let me ask you a question about that. In your book you indicate that you were doubles
partners in tennis earlier.

Baker: Yes, we were.

Riley: And that you complemented one another. His game was different than yours, but you put
the two of them together.

Baker: He was great at the net and | was great on ground strokes. We were both weak as servers.
[laughter]

Riley: Were there any parallels in your foreign policy?

Baker: No, | don’t think so, in foreign policy because there was no daylight between us. We
really saw everything pretty much the same way.

Riley: Your strengths were the same strengths.
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Baker: I think so.
Riley: And your weaknesses were the same weaknesses.

Baker: I believe so. Look at all the times where he followed—when | was a voice in the
wilderness and he lined up with me. Going to the UN [United Nations] to get a resolution,
Defense didn’t want to do that, Margaret Thatcher didn’t want to, a lot of people didn’t want to
do that. Hard-liners said, “Are you kidding? You’re going to get all wrapped around the axle.” |
said, “Hell, we won’t even bring it up if we don’t know we have the votes,” and he went with
me.

We put a naval embargo on Irag and they had a ship sailing for Yemen. | was at my ranch; it was
summertime. | was at my ranch in Wyoming with nothing but a TacSat. I didn’t have a phone out
there in those days. | have a cabin way up in the wilderness. So | was talking to Shevardnadze
with a military TacSat. | had to hit the satellite over the Indian Ocean to talk to him, and he was
saying, “Give me two and a half to three days, and we’re going to talk to Saddam [Hussein], to
see if we get something done.” Well, if we had taken that ship out, we’d have lost the Soviets.
There wouldn’t have been a coalition. They would have vetoed the use of force.

Young: Right.

Baker: | was a real voice in the wilderness and | said, “Please, | really think this is important.”
And he did. He overruled Brent, he overruled Margaret, he overruled Defense. Everybody was
saying, “You can’t have a naval embargo and then let one ship get through.” And he said. “Well,
I think this other is maybe more important.”

The Two Plus Four. When there were internal people raising questions about whether we should
use the Two Plus Four deal for German unification | was up at the Open Skies Conference in
Canada and | had sold the damn thing to the British, who were against unification, and to the
French and the Soviet Union who were against unification. And then I called up and I told him,
“l got the Two Plus Four.” And they said, “Well, I’m not sure the Chancellor is on board with
this, are you sure about it?” | said, “I worked hard to get this done up here. My understanding
when | left was this is what we wanted to do, and I’ve gotten it done; you can’t saw the limb off
behind me.” And he said, “Well—" | picked up the phone and called [Hans-Dietrich] Genscher
and said, “You’d better get hold of the Chancellor and tell him that somebody in Washington is
saying you’re moving too fast here.” That’s what it was.

Young: Yes.

Baker: But | know what happened. It was some of the gnomes in the NSC who got Brent all
stirred up, and it was also Horst Teltschik, frankly, who worked for Chancellor Helmut Kohl.
But there 1 am, and it wasn’t three hours before he called me back and said, “We’re going to go
with you. You’re right. I’ve talked to the Chancellor; we’re going to do it.” | had said, “You’d
better call the Chancellor now.” I got Genscher to call the Chancellor too. But Bush was there
with me. That’s what | mean by having a relationship with your President. Like when I screwed
up on the State of the Union stuff—and there were other instances.
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I remember when the well was being poisoned for my Assistant Secretary for Inter-American
Affairs, Latin America, Bernie Aronson. He was a Democrat. But he was strong on the Contra
issue, he was on our side. | recruited him and he was one of a couple of Democrats that | put—
you see, | had free license to staff the State Department. | didn’t have to go to the White House
Personnel Office. So | put him in there and it wasn’t long before some of the hard-right guys in
the Vice President’s office, [J. Danforth] Quayle’s office, were trashing him and feeding the
President bad stuff about him. And one day | told the President, “I want to tell you something.
Boy, this guy is really doing a great job, he’s loyal to you.” Without Bernie Aronson, we
wouldn’t have gotten a Central America thing, in my view. The President said okay and he
supported me thereafter on Aronson. Having that support is really, really critical.

Young: Well, his support, his trust, his implicit trust in your judgment, not playing games.

Baker: To be willing to support you alone against—I’ve given you three or four examples.
There were plenty of others, I guess, but those are the three or four that I can remember off the
top of my head. That friendship was so important. He was there for me, even when | screwed up,
and of course | tried to be there as well for him. But we had a good team, we had a really good
national security team, and again, we’d all been together in prior iterations.

Strong: Can | follow up on one thing you mentioned?

Baker: Sure.

Strong: Is President Bush on the phone with foreign leaders a lot?
Baker: Yes.

Strong: And is he doing that always to clarify some issue like Two Plus Four, or is he just
keeping in touch and maintaining?

Baker: He’s doing the latter.
Strong: He’s doing the latter.

Baker: Yes. Well, if you know this guy and you know how he operates politically, he pens these
little personal notes. The secret of his success is that he’ll pen a little personal note to everybody
for everything. He’s a communicator, he’s always in touch.

Strong: And as Secretary of State is he filling you in on those conversations? Are you reading
the notes that are—?

Baker: Nothing ever happened that | wasn’t privy to. There was never a time when anybody
from the NSC was sent to see a foreign leader or met with a foreign leader that I didn’t know
about. There was a rule that the White House Chief of Staff would never meet with
Ambassadors, for instance. One time it happened with [John] Sununu and I just blew up in front
of the President. He was embarrassed I got so mad, but what did he do? He came down and he
said, “You’re not supposed to do that, John.” So he was protective of his Secretary of State.
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People used to write occasionally that he would have been better as Secretary of State than
President. Well, that’s bullshit. He was a terrific President, but he would have been an
extraordinary Secretary of State. There wasn’t anything that ever happened that | didn’t know
about, and there was never any mission that | wasn’t talked to first, or that there wasn’t a State
Department person along. You look at Scowcroft’s mission to China and the aftermath of
Tiananmen when he was caught toasting the Chinese and everything. Larry Eagleburger was on
that trip, right? That’s the way Bush operated, and that was his initiative as much as it was
mine—I’m glad it worked that way and I probably would have complained if it hadn’t, but |
didn’t have to.

Let me say something about Brent Scowcroft. When the President talked to me about who he
was going to pick as his National Security Adviser, he said, “What do you think?” | said, “I think
that’s terrific, he’s done it for Ford.” And he said, “Well, I’m going to approach him.” This was
before he approached him, and he did, and Brent called me and he said, “I want to tell you
something. I’m going to take this job, but I want you to know, as Secretary of State, that | am
never going to go on television unless you tell me it’s OK.” I wrote this. “Unless you say it’s
okay.” Well, having done that, it was fine with me. He could go on anytime he wanted to.

He was the perfect National Security Adviser—low key, low profile, and we never had—except
maybe that time when I got in the way of the State of the Union, and that was my fault. He was a
terrific NSC Adviser, and he, too, knew how it should work. I also wrote that Cheney and I,
while we had differences, a lot of them, | bet we didn’t take four or five issues to the President.
We’d work them out in Brent’s office.

Now this is a terrible—you’re giving me a chance to say it, so I’m going to say it. You look at
the foreign policy record of this administration and some of the things that happened. You look
at the Central America Accord, you look at the unification of Germany, as a member of the
North Atlantic Treaty Organization, the diplomacy. Substantial diplomatic accomplishment. You
look at the Madrid Peace Conference, the first time Israel and all of our Arab neighbors ever got
together face-to-face to talk peace. You look at the collapse of the Soviet Union in a peaceful
way, the Cold War ending peacefully. You look at a textbook case of the way to fight a war—
politically, diplomatically, militarily, and economically—qget everybody else to pay for it. That
was a textbook case of the way to eject Iraq from Kuwait. It’s the only time in history that the
UN Security Council has operated the way the founders intended, in terms of using force against
a member state. The only time, except in the Korean War, when the Soviets walked out. All of
that wouldn’t have happened without his leadership.

Young: And his team, | think. It was this very unusual time in history and an unusual collection
of people, unique maybe.

Baker: Yes, well, | said we’re the exception to the rule in my view. I think history is going to
treat him very well. I’m sure it will in terms of the foreign policy aspects of his Presidency. He
unfortunately was not able to achieve reelection, thanks to Ross Perot.

Young: Could you talk a little bit as Secretary of State about the politics of dealing with
Congress on some of these big ticket—of course there’s the loan guarantee.
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Baker: We had the loan guarantee. Well, yes, the only time AIPAC [America Israel Public
Affairs Committee] has ever been beaten was in 1981, on AWACS [Airborne Early Warning and
Control Systems], and in 1991 on the loan guarantee.

Young: Could you talk a little bit about how—

Baker: And that’s tough stuff.

Young: The behind the scenes story on that, how that happened.

Baker: How loan guarantees happened?

Young: No, the story on the loan guarantees.

Baker: Yes, we can get into that in some detail if you want, but generally, let me say—
Young: Generally, the politics of it. How did you happen to get that done?

Baker: Generally, let me say this. | had a great team at the State Department too. | had some
really experienced professional politicians in Margaret Tutwiler and in Bob Zoellick and Janet
Mullins, who was our Congressional liaison. We judge our Presidents on the basis of what they
can do with the Congress oftentimes, that’s really how we make some judgment. Not necessarily
in the foreign policy area, but in the domestic policy area certainly. | spent four years at the right
hand of an extraordinarily wonderful President in Ronald Reagan, and | ran his Congressional
operation.

Anybody who goes to Washington who doesn’t understand that you’ve got three major power
centers that you’ve got to deal with, they’re not going to succeed. One is the Congress, one is the
press, and the other is the bureaucracy, and you have to deal with them politically and adroitly,
and we did that with Reagan. So we had some experience in doing it when it came time to try
and do it for Bush’s foreign policy. | wrote in The Politics of Diplomacy that my political
experience was invaluable to me as Secretary of State. So was my legal experience, because
being Secretary of State is very much a political job, but it’s also a negotiating job. Political
experience really strengthens you in both of those. Loan guarantees | think I’ve written about
pretty extensively in The Politics of Diplomacy.

Young: Yes, you have.

Baker: President Bush got off to an unfortunate start with Yitzhak Shamir, the Prime Minister of
Israel. Yitzhak Shamir, in one of his first meetings with President Bush said, “Don’t worry about
the settlements. We’re going to take care of that; we’ll deal with that.” President Bush
interpreted that to mean, “We’re going to slow it down, we’re going to stop it, we’re going to
deal with your problems.” Every administration, Democrat or Republican, had been opposed to
settlements. And then when that didn’t happen, there was sort of a sense of betrayal | think on
President Bush’s part.

Did we have the loan guarantee fight before or after we ejected Iraq from Kuwait?
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Young: It came up, as I recall—am | right about this, Bob? It came up at a very crucial moment,
before the—

Baker: Before we went in?
Young: Before you went in, and it was like a fire bell.

Baker: We already had commitments from Egypt and Syria to send forces to the Gulf when this
happened.

Young: | think so, but I’m not sure about that.
Baker: Well, I’ll tell you a couple of things.
Young: But the question was, Israel will break away.

Baker: One of the major things we did was to keep Israel from being involved in that war, but I
give credit to Yitzhak Shamir. He was really hard-line. Did you know that after [Benjamin]
Netanyahu became Prime Minister the first time Shamir called him squishy, too soft, he’d given
away too much? So that’s how hard-line he was. But I’ll tell you, when the war broke out and
Israel was hit by the Scuds, they wanted to intervene, particularly Moshe Arens, the Defense
Minister, and others. We got on the horn to them and at that time the President’s relationship
with Shamir was quite strained. He asked me to call him and I called the Prime Minister. | said,
“We sure hope you’re not going to—this would really turn this from an international community
against Saddam Hussein to an Arab-Israeli dispute, and it really would be counterproductive.”
To his everlasting credit, Shamir overruled his Minister and said, “We’re going to let the
Americans take care of this.” And we agreed to do some more sorties on the Scud sites in
Western Iraq and so forth.

I can’t remember when loan guarantees first came up, but I do remember the Prime Minister
asking me for $10 million, and | said that | would take that back to Washington, but that at the
very least we’d want some assurance that it wouldn’t be used to settle Diaspora Jews in the
occupied territory. If you look in The Politics of Diplomacy, the tick-tock ought to be there, but
at some point Shamir said, “My people tell me we can get it from the Congress.”

Young: That’s right, that’s what | was going to say.

Baker: And I said, “Okay, then | suppose maybe we’ll see you on Capitol Hill.” I can’t
remember exactly when that was. | had been talking to Washington, because | wouldn’t have
said that on my own. But we’d taken the position. | think the President had already taken the
position that he wasn’t going to give the loan guarantees unless there was a commitment not to
use them for settlement in the territories. And Shamir said, “Well, we can get it from the—"

Young: We can go around you and get it from the Congress.

Baker: The question then, I think, in my mind, was could they override a veto, and | don’t think
they could have done that. But anyway, we ended up beating them straight up on it.
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Young: That must have been a pretty difficult task.

Baker: We beat him in the House and then we beat him barely in the Senate, I think. No, maybe
it was okay in the Senate. What we won in the Senate was the vote in the Senate to go to war, to
kick Irag out of Kuwait; it was 52-47. That was a tough fight there. And then the AWACS vote
was really tough, way back in ’81, that was the Reagan administration, because when we decided
we were going to—the one thing Jimmy Carter said to Ronald Reagan, in a meeting in the Oval
right after the election, when the new President comes in—I was there as his Chief of Staff. He
said, “I hope you’ll support me on AWACS to Saudi Arabia. We’re worried about Iran.” And
President Reagan said, “I will.”

The first week we took office, we’re greeted with a letter from 75 Senators saying “Don’t sell
AWACS to—" and at that time the fight was being led over at the State Department. Al
[Alexander, Jr.] Haig was doing it over there, but it wasn’t going very well. He and Dick Allen
were doing it and the President said, “Let’s bring it in here to the White House.” We brought it in
and formed a war room in my office, the Chief of Staff’s office, and we finally won that, but
very narrowly. We probably gave away the store to do it. | don’t remember all that.

So yes, that was tough, the loan guarantee. But I’ll tell you one thing the loan guarantee fight did.
In my view it probably made Madrid possible. Madrid was important, not just because it broke a
taboo. If you remember back in those days, the Arabs wouldn’t talk to Israel, they wouldn’t even
sit down with them, and that was 25 years or so of policy. The loan guarantee fight was really a
fight about settlements.

Young: Yes.

Baker: This didn’t impact in one way all of the stuff that we were going to continue to give
Israel, and did continue, and in fact we even increased it. It was just that one issue, and that is
one of things that | think—I don’t know this for sure—caused Syria to change 25 years of policy
and say that she would come to Madrid. And when Syria said it would come to Madrid, it was
pretty hard then for Shamir. The Israeli position for 25 years had been, “All we want to do is
have a chance to talk face-to-face with our neighbors.” So at that point he was not able to say,
“We’re not going to come to Madrid,” although he didn’t like it, didn’t want to do it.

Young: Generally, about how much time did you have to spend, or your staff, Janet Mullins and
others, minding, working.

Baker: Quite a lot. All of these big Congressional fights, you spend a lot—calling Senators or
Congressmen on the phone, trying to get their vote, having the President call them, bringing
them down to the White House. You know the drill. We did it all the time on the big fights.

Young: You had to carry the water for your own issues on that. The White House didn’t, on
Congressional relations.

Baker: Oh, no. On loan guarantees the White House was very much involved. No, no. But the
Cabinet department that has jurisdiction over the issue is the one that’s in the lead, generally. If
it’s tax reform, it’s the Treasury Secretary, if it’s loan guarantees, it’s the Secretary of State. If
it’s—whatever it might be.
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Riley: You write in The Politics of Diplomacy about your aversion to getting engaged.

Baker: Involved in that. | was taking the advice of people whose judgment | respected, a lot of
people. I wrote about having gone to see every former Secretary of State, and | think | wrote
about the advice they gave me. By the way, there’s a lot of good stuff on that in my papers,
which are up at the Seeley Mudd Library in Princeton. | think there will be copies down here at
Rice University at some point. But the notes | took from all those meetings are up there. I think |
met with almost every former Secretary of State, as | did when | became Chief of Staff, | met
with all the former Chiefs of Staff. A number of people said to be careful of the Arab-Israeli
dispute; it’s sort of a graveyard for Secretaries of State. So | started carefully, but we made a lot
of progress to get them talking to each other after 25 years. I’m going to claim—I hope this is
correct, | believe it is—that it led to the Israel-Jordan peace agreement. You see, it led directly to
Oslo. The United States wasn’t involved in Oslo. The parties did that off to the side and it was
dramatic. But had you not had Madrid, you wouldn’t have had Oslo. You wouldn’t have had
Oslo in ’93. Madrid was in ’91, ’92 maybe. | can’t remember.

Riley: You occasionally mention in the book that the President was getting letters from Richard
Nixon.

Baker: Yes, he got letters from him. | would occasionally get letters from him. Nixon stayed
involved. I’ve got a letter posted out here on the wall. You may not have seen it.

Riley: No, I did not.

Baker: | was Treasury Secretary. It says, “Jim, I’m writing to let you know I’m going to start
paying for my own security. The American taxpayers shouldn’t have to pay for this. And don’t
try to talk me out of it. Nixon.” And he did. He picked up his own security and dismissed his
Secret Service for life.

Riley: Did President Bush have conversations with Nixon?

Baker: I don’t know that he had conversations, but I think occasionally Nixon might come in. |
can’t remember. | think Reagan had more direct contact with Nixon.

Young: Getting back to the Congressional front again.

Baker: Excuse me, but let me say on that issue—I think | wrote in Work Hard, Study that Nixon
advised Bush not to ask me to resign as Treasury Secretary. Didn’t I, John?

Williams: Yes.

Baker: Nixon said, “Don’t do that. It makes you look weak.” But at that point we were 18 points
behind. He was 18 points behind [Michael] Dukakis. Reagan didn’t want me to go over either; |
wrote that in the book. He thought I could be more beneficial at the Treasury, but that wasn’t
41’s view, and | think 41 was probably right. He had a dysfunctional campaign organization at
that time because they had six people, the gang of six, and that wasn’t working real well. We
talked about that probably, on the prior oral history interview.
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Strong: There’s a Nixon quote about George Bush. | can’t quote it literally, but it goes more or
less like this: “He’s one of those politicians that everybody underestimates. Don’t underestimate
him. When the big play has to be made, he will be there.”

Baker: That’s probably true. He made a lot of big plays in his political career. Here’s a guy who
was an asterisk in the polls when we started his Presidential campaign in 1979, and he was the
only one standing against a heads-on favorite in Reagan. He’s the only other one who had
delegates at the convention. If he hadn’t had those delegates, Reagan wouldn’t have picked him.
He didn’t want to pick him. At that time it was anybody but Bush. But boy, Reagan knew that he
had a jewel in his Vice President, and they became really close friends, not just partners but
friends. And as we said earlier in the interview, Bush sure knew how to do the job of Vice
President. I’ll tell you who was also underestimated: Reagan. The chattering class all thought he
was just a shoot-from-the-hip cowboy and they found out differently. Why don’t we take a five-
minute break.

Young: Okay.

[BREAK]

Baker: They’re doing an oral history on me up there at the Seeley Mudd Library. All of that,
together with a complete copy of my political and public service papers, will also be down here,
but the original papers themselves are up there. They’re right on the same shelf with John Foster
Dulles’s papers. [laughs]

Strong: A big shelf.

Baker: If you look at that second book | wrote, the first picture in the book is a picture of Ike
[Dwight D. Eisenhower]. When | attended the inaugural in 1952, | was a Marine in the Korean
War at Quantico. | came up with my girlfriend; somebody gave us tickets to the parade and we
were right across the street from the reviewing stands. And there in the car with Ike, the new
President, is his new Secretary of State, John Foster Dulles. Our papers are right next to each
other’s.

Riley: All right, Jim, you had another question about Congress.

Young: Well, this is not the most important thing about it, but you stressed at the beginning of
the book the importance of having some consensus in Congress. You faced an opposition party
Congress throughout your years, a large Democratic Party majority in the Bush administration,
and you come to the Gulf War and they’re not with you on this at the beginning.

Baker: That’s correct.
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Young: How should people in history read this? Because you were very good in dealing with
Congress. The President was good, you were good. You probably had personal friends there
from old times as well.

Baker: Yes.

Young: So how should people understand how that problem arose of having a problem with
Congress and the country?

Baker: The problem exists—it didn’t arise—when you have a Congress of the other party and
you have to work with them. That’s why sometimes a President will be more consensus oriented
when they have a Congress of the other party. Ronald Reagan had a Democratic House. He had
to deal with [Thomas P.] Tip O’Neill and did. Everybody thought he was such an ideologue and
hard-line conservative. He was at heart a pretty damn good pragmatist. I’ve written so many
times that he’d say to me, “Jim, I’d rather get 80 percent of what | want than go over the cliff
with my flag flying.” So you had to work the Congress. You weren’t in a position where you
could say to yourself, We’re just going to ram this through.

Generally speaking, it’s hard. Look at the problems [Barack] Obama had, trying to get health
care through a solid Democratic Congress, some of the problems *43 had with a complete
Republican Congress, his Social Security stuff and things like that.

When the time came to take the nation to war—and again, the Vietnam syndrome was not dead.
The only time we’d ever had any conflict was Grenada, which some people refer to as a police
action, and it really was not that major an expedition. And here we were sending 500,000
Americans to the Gulf to eject the fourth largest army in the world from Kuwait, a long way
around the world. It was not a popular thing, and the Democratic opposition in the Congress was
fanning the flames of unpopularity.

I write about how 1’d go up there to have to testify and 1’d be met with these cries of, “How
many dead Americans is it worth, Mr. Secretary, to do what you’re talking about doing? And
how can we do this, with the cost of this, given all the social requirements we have in this
country?” And it was that, in the final analysis, | came back to the President. I said, “We’re
going to have to figure out a way to get some help paying for this war or we’re not going to get
the approval that you want from the Congress.”

I think the President would have gone ahead anyway, even if he hadn’t gotten Congress’s
approval. In fact | know he would have, under the view that he had that authority under the
Constitution to conduct the nation’s foreign policy.

Young: But he—

Baker: But he wanted to get the support of Congress so he could say that the American people
were behind the effort, get the people’s representatives. Now where we really had trouble was in
the Senate. So that triggered a couple of things. Number one, it gave more viability to my
argument that we should go, if we could, to the UN to get our resolution authorizing the use of
force. The voices that were opposed to that, they had to acknowledge or recognize that if we
were able to do it, it would go a long way toward getting the approval of the American people.
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Once we got the use of force resolution, | was able to go up to the Senate, let’s say the Senate
and the House or the Senate, and say to either Senator or Congressman, “You mean you’re not
going to support the President in this action that he’s taking for the national interest of the
country? The President of Ethiopia is going to support him, but you’re not?” It was a very
powerful argument.

The other thing was on the economic side; we got this war paid for. We paid $10 million, which
is a lot of money, but nothing in the big picture. The war cost $70 or $75 billion, and we got all
but $10 million paid for. Why did we do that? Because we kept getting met with arguments.
Particularly, | remember Senator Robert Byrd saying, “How can you do this in the face of all the
needs we have here?” | came back to the President and said, “Guess what? We ought to be
thinking about trying to go to the people whose interests we are going to protect by this action
we’re going to take and have them contribute.” After all, they’re these oil-producing countries;
they’ve got a lot of it.

So we started the Tin Cup mission, and | went first to the Saudis and | said, “I want $15 billion.”
And they said, “What have you got from the Kuwaitis?” | said, “Well, nothing yet,” and they
said, “When you get $15 billion from the Kuwaitis, then we’ll talk about $15 billion.” I went to
the Kuwaitis and they said money was no object. Then | went back to King [Bin Abdul Aziz al
Saud] Fahd, and King Fahd said, “I don’t want to talk to you about the amount. It doesn’t matter
what the amount is. Just go in there and talk to your former friend, the Saudi Finance Minister.”
When | was Treasury Secretary, | knew this guy. | went in there and he was as white as a sheet.
He heard the King say, “Just talk to the Finance Minister.” [laughter]

The Saudis came up with $15 billion and the Kuwaitis came up with $15 billion, and even the
Germans, who couldn’t do anything militarily, came up with $6 billion. I think the Japanese—we
got it from everybody, and that’s why | say it was a textbook case of the way to go to war
politically, diplomatically, militarily, and economically.

Young: How did you get them to give all this money?

Baker: They had a lot at risk. They couldn’t kick Irag out of Kuwait; Iraq was a serious threat to
the Saudis, and they were brutalizing Kuwait. So they weren’t going to argue over dollars.
Fifteen billion is a lot of money, but to them?

Young: But also, Japan and others contributed.

Baker: Well, when we went to the UN, the international—that made this. This was an egregious
act of aggression, and there wasn’t any argument, except—the only countries we didn’t have
were North Korea, Libya, Cuba, and one or two others. Once you got to that point, people
would—and look, it was right in the aftermath of the end of the Cold War, or the Cold War was
ending. It wasn’t quite over, but it was quite clear that the United States was going to be the sole
remaining—well, maybe not sole remaining superpower, because we didn’t know the Soviet
Union would implode, but it was quite clear that the United States was the preeminent country in
the world. People wanted to stay close to us, and Germany and Japan had been longtime allies,
and we just unified Germany. So they had a good reason to help.

Riley: Was Panama an important predicate for all of this?
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Baker: Panama simply showed that the United States was going to use all of the arrows in its
quiver. It wasn’t going to be tied down to having to go multilaterally, having just to go in
unilaterally. We were going to use informal coalitions; we were going to use the existing bodies
of NATO, the UN, the IMF [International Monetary Fund], the World Bank. We’re going to use
all of the tools at our disposal, and the surest and best test of a great power is if your national
interest requires it, you just go do it. Like Margaret Thatcher said to President Bush when we
were debating whether we would go to the UN to get a resolution. She was sitting there in the
Oval Office and she says, “Oh, George, let’s just go do it.” Her argument was legally correct and
logical, that we could do it under Article 51 of the UN charter. But if we’d done that, we
wouldn’t have had the support. We wouldn’t have had the rest of the world, we wouldn’t have
had a use of force resolution, and we wouldn’t have had the Congress of the United States.

Riley: Was there much internal dissent within the administration? Were there some hard-line
voices?

Baker: No. Defense said we’re going to get all wrapped around the axle. But we talked and |
said, “Let me tell you something, Dick, we’re not even going to call a vote. If we don’t have the
votes, don’t worry, we aren’t going to call a vote.” That’s frankly the mistake that was made in
the second Gulf War, going for that second resolution, asking for it to be brought up before they
knew they had the votes to pass it. Then it looks like well, if you’ve gone for it and you don’t get
it, you shouldn’t go. That’s what her fear was, and it was a legitimate fear. France, Britain, and
the Soviets were really worried that history would repeat itself, and they were—to say
“lukewarm” is an understatement. They were not in favor of German unification. They came
along when America and Germany showed a real desire to get it done, commitment to getting it
done.

Strong: Did Senators understand that if they hadn’t voted to approve the Gulf War, the
administration was going to go ahead anyway?

Baker: I don’t think they did. No, | don’t believe so, but we would have. You got a little bit of
the same problem once you bring it up, but I think he would have gone ahead. But we didn’t
have to call for the vote until the vote count showed that we were pretty close.

Riley: Any specific hard cases of members you had to deal with?

Baker: Oh yes, but I’d have to go back to The Politics of Diplomacy for that, or even the second
book might add some in that. Yes, there were hard cases. One of the guys who voted for it was
Al [Albert, Jr.] Gore, if you remember correctly, when we agreed to give him more time to speak
on C-SPAN [Cable-Satellite Public Affairs Network]. He said, “I’ll vote for it if you give me 15
minutes.” That’s when our Senate leadership agreed with that. He was going to run for President.
It’s true.

Young: So had you anticipated the difficulties with Congress that arose over the Gulf War?
Baker: I’m not sure | anticipated the depth of the opposition on the economic front.
Young: There were some who were saying you hadn’t given sanctions.
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Baker: That’s correct, a lot of them.
Young: So there were various arguments.

Baker: That’s correct. There were people who didn’t want us to do it who would use that
argument.

Young: And there were people saying it’s not clear what we’re going there for, is it for oil or is
it for this? The message wasn’t terribly clear.

Baker: We used all of the arguments. We should have used them all, I think. I used one and | got
criticized for it, when | said it’s jobs. Well it was jobs. Look, I’d been in three administrations
and in every one of them we’ve had a game plan that we would fight to preserve secure access to
the energy supplies of the Persian Gulf. So I said, “Why the hell don’t we call a spade a spade?”
Everybody said, “Oh, tsk, tsk, tsk. You have to have a higher moralistic purpose than that in
mind.”

Young: Well, you did, actually.

Baker: We did. We also said it was to reverse unprovoked aggression and to get rid of a
[Adolph] Hitler. Were we not supposed to use all of the arguments? Why were we restricted to
one? That’s what | never understand. All the people who criticized us. Why do you have to be
restricted to one? If there are a lot of good arguments for doing it, use them all.

Young: You had the argument, of course, it was an invasion of another country.
Baker: Absolutely, unprovoked aggression against a small neighbor.
Young: Yes, sure.

Baker: That’s not the way the world ought to operate. And they were brutalizing the Kuwaitis,
see, we had that too. President Bush and | are Episcopalians, and the Presiding Bishop of the
Episcopal Church, Edmond Browning, called and said he wanted to come see us. He said war is
wrong, it’s immoral, there’s no sense saying it was a just war. So he came in and we met with
him in the Oval, just the three of us: Bishop Browning, President Bush, and me. He said, “You
shouldn’t be doing this war, it’s just wrong.” So we pulled out the Amnesty International report
that had all the pictures of the atrocities. They were cutting people’s tongues out and they were
raping the women. It was just an awful, brutal occupation. We didn’t win him over, but I think
we made him think.

Strong: Did those reports matter a great deal to George Bush?
Baker: Yes, they sure did.

Strong: Coming back to Panama, and this is again, something Gates says or hints at. He thought
what really made a difference was the sexual abuse to the Navy lieutenant’s wife.

Baker: Right.
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Strong: Everyone knew that when Noriega oversteps the bounds, there will be a response. That
was known. But he says it was that report that may well have turned the President to Okay, this is
it, he has overstepped the bounds.

Baker: | think that’s true.
Strong: And he attributes that to a kind of almost old-fashioned gentleman.
Baker: Noblesse oblige.

Strong: Well, not that, but that George Bush would have been offended by that story to a degree
that maybe some other—

Baker: | don’t know whether you can say that or not. | don’t do comparisons.
Strong: | know you don’t. So those human rights stories mattered to him also.

Baker: They did. They did and they do, you bet. You will not find a kinder, gentler, more
compassionate person than George Bush. That’s the way he is, thoughtful. If he were here, he’d
be getting up and getting your coffee refilled and doing all that. Any time you’re sitting having a
drink with him, he’s passing the hors d’oeuvres around. But he’s thoughtful in other ways too. |
don’t mean just good manners. But that’s the way he is, and | agree with Bob if that’s what Bob
wrote. That’s what just triggered a visceral reaction. Wait a minute. Why would we put up with
this?

Riley: You also report on occasions that he’s very competitive?
Baker: Very.

Riley: You indicate that there were occasions you were able to turn that to your advantage.
You’d find a way to present something to him.

Baker: I can’t remember any good example. | think that’s probably true. Did | give you some
examples? | don’t remember. We’d get out there on that tennis court and | do write about this.
The tennis pro at the Houston Country Club was a guy named Hector Salazar from Central
America. Hector was terrific, and he would play customer tennis with us. I knew he was playing
customer tennis and I could never convince George Bush of that. He thought that by golly, this—
he would carry the match to a 7-5 in the third set. He would dump easy shots into the net or
something and George would say, “Come on now, Baker, we’re moving up on him, we’re going
to win this thing.” He was playing customer tennis with us. It’s true. He might even acknowledge
that today, maybe not.

We had some wonderful times together; it was right at the time he was getting into politics the
first time. No, that’s not correct. When did he run for—it was when he ran for the Congress and
got elected, in the *60s. We won the Houston Country Club tennis doubles title in 1966 and ’67. |
was out at the club eating supper with my wife the other night and George and Barbara [Bush]
were in a separate room. | heard that they were there, so | went in to see them. They were sitting
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in the men’s grill, right under the big plaque that says in 1966 and 1967, George H.W. Bush and
James A. Baker—we were reminiscing about that. He’s having trouble getting around now.

Riley: Yes?
Baker: | mean walking.
Riley: Exactly.

Baker: But there’s a big deal coming up this Monday in Washington. We’ve got the Points of
Light. All of the former Presidents are going to be there. It’s going to be a big deal.

Riley: I was supposed to see Jean Becker tomorrow to interview her.

Baker: You can’t. It’s overwhelming.

Riley: Itis. So I said let’s hold off and we agreed we’ll do it in May at some point.

Baker: She’s been good for him.

Riley: You indicate you had biweekly meetings with the President during the administration.
Baker: Twice a week.

Riley: Twice a week.

Baker: But that’s a formality. | met with the President anytime | wanted to. | of course had
walk-in rights and all the rest, and I would call him on the phone a lot. But the biweekly thing
came with a continuation, I think, of the Reagan practice, where we made sure that President
Reagan had the opportunity to meet with his Secretary of State twice a week, alone, if the
Secretary wanted it.

Riley: Were these frequent enough so that there was a pattern of how the meetings went?

Baker: No. I wouldn’t focus too much on those, because I didn’t need those meetings, but we
just continued them from the Reagan administration. My relationship with the President was
closer than that, I mean I didn’t need to—»but I usually used the time to talk to him about things
that I might want to talk to him about.

Strong: You were more likely to set the agenda: “These are the things that we should talk
about.”

Baker: Yes, | would set the agenda.
Riley: And that would include foreign and domestic things?

Baker: No. You know, being Secretary of State is a humongous job. It’s a big job, a difficult
job, you’re gone a lot. And I really didn’t do much politics. For instance, | wasn’t in on the
decisions about the library and where he was going to put it and things like that that normally |
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would have been in on with him. I wasn’t in on a lot of the political decisions. | used to get calls
from people saying we need to get going, he’s not going. | said, “Look, I’ve got all I could say
grace over here. | can’t.” | do remember, and | write about this in one of the books, flying home
from a foreign trip on the evening of the New Hampshire primary, when Pat Buchanan got a lot
of votes up here. And I’'m thinking to myself, Hmmmmm, | may be looking at going back to the
campaign. And sure enough that’s what happened.

Riley: When you’re traveling, you’re in touch. A great deal of The Politics of Diplomacy is text
of the messages that you’re writing to the President.

Baker: Yes, and secure phone calls.
Riley: The text that’s in The Politics of Diplomacy is directly from messages that you—

Baker: Absolutely. Warren Christopher was very good to me. He gave me an office at the State
Department, and any time you read something in The Politics of Diplomacy that’s in quotes, it’s
exactly what was said, because it comes out of the memcons [memorandums of conversation].
Some of those are still classified; most of them are not. But if it’s in quotes in that book, it was
out of the memcon of conversation | had with a foreign leader.

You know what I think would be interesting to you guys maybe? We’ll get it for you. We’ve
declassified the text of the meeting with Tarig Aziz in Geneva. It’s a fascinating meeting because
it will show you this guy was really adroit at handling a terrible brief in a reasonably efficient
way. It’s interesting, if you’re interested in the Gulf War.

Riley: Absolutely.

Baker: Everybody thought we were going to go there and negotiate. That was never the purpose.
The purpose was to make sure historians were not able to say, “You went to war. You just
jumped the gun here. You didn’t exhaust every possible opportunity to resolve it diplomatically.”
John, see if we can get a copy of that.

Strong: Did the President do his important work in phone conversations or in face-to-face
conversations rather than on paper?

Baker: I don’t know the answer to that. He wrote notes all the time. You’re talking now about
the four years that | was Secretary of State.

Strong: Right.

Baker: | don’t know how much of that was—>but 1’d say probably so. He did a lot of it in phone
conversation.

Strong: Again, we don’t want to make comparisons, but in general, Carter, Nixon, they did a lot
of work on paper. And if you have access to the documents they received and the notes they
wrote in the margin, you learn a lot. For other Presidents, those documents are less important,
because Lyndon Johnson was doing a lot of his work in phone conversations and not writing
down.
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Baker: But there are transcripts of every conversation a President has with a foreign leader.

Strong: There are, and again, many of them have been released. The Kohl transcripts are
released.

Baker: Yes, most of them, after 20 years, are usually released. | used to keep some fairly
significant notes. | never kept a diary, but I kept notes, until about the 15th time | was called to
testify before the FBI [Federal Bureau of Investigation] about some investigation or something.
It’s too bad, it’s too bad for history, but that damn independent counsel law was a terrible thing. |
don’t know whether you guys remember this, but Ford’s Attorney General initiated an
independent counsel investigation of him within four or five weeks of the election. What a
perversion of the political process, but he was compelled to do it by the independent counsel law
that says if you get one allegation from a credible source, you can—it would be the greatest thing
in the world to get rid of that damn thing. I’ll tell you who will tell you that too, is Bill Clinton.
[laughter] But he signed a renewal of it.

Strong: He signed it. [laughter]

Baker: | mean come on.

Riley: And I think over his wife’s objections, if | remember correctly.

Baker: Really?

Riley: Yes.

Baker: Maybe so. But boy, I tell you, I know where he would be on that now.
Riley: You went to Malta?

Baker: Yes, you bet.

Riley: Unless my memory fails me, | don’t think there was much said about that event in The
Politics of Diplomacy.

Baker: Oh, yes, there was.

Riley: Yes?

Baker: Oh, yes. | remember there’s a picture of it and a summary.
Williams: A five-page summary.

Baker: No, there was a lot said about it, a really important meeting. President Bush got that idea
from [Franklin D.] Roosevelt’s meeting, | think, with 1bn Saud or something. So here we are on
a cruiser and the damn thing is going like this, and I’ve got a Scopolamine patch on the back of
my ear because | get seasick very easily. And then we get word that Gorbachev isn’t going to
come to our cruiser the way he was supposed to, because he can’t swim. [laughter] He got
scared, and so we had our meeting on the Maxim Gorky. But that was an important meeting, if
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for no other reason than to begin to establish a relationship between the two of them, a
relationship that Shevardnadze and | had already begun to establish, and a relationship of
cooperation and trust.

Strobe Talbott and Michael Beschloss have written a book called At the Highest Levels that’s
really interesting about the U.S./Soviet relationship with the Bush administration and the Reagan
administration. If you haven’t seen it, you might take a look at it.

Riley: And it resonates as being true to you?

Baker: I think what’s in it is true, yes. The one point it makes, which I think is true, is
Shevardnadze was leaning more forward than his boss, because he maybe didn’t have the
political constraints. And then of course he didn’t think his boss was successfully defending him,
and that’s when he quit. That was a dark day for us, because it looked like the Soviet Union
might go back to the hard-line repression period. That was the time with Lithuania and stuff like
that. But that book, | would call that to you if you’re interested in supplementing this period. If
this is just an oral history that’s just another oral history, you’re not looking at the Bush
administration’s foreign policy, except by way of oral history.

Riley: No, no, exactly.
Strong: That’s correct.
Riley: That’s correct. This is to be used as a resource document on its own, but it’s important.

Baker: Well, you might have that in the bibliography. You can take a look at that book. You
might want to put it in the bibliography.

Strong: Can | ask you about Shevardnadze? You described your relationship as a friendship.
Baker: Yes.

Strong: Would that also be appropriate to describe the relationship between Gorbachev and
President Bush?

Baker: Yes, I think so.

Strong: There are real advantages to having those kinds of relationships.
Baker: You bet.

Strong: Are there also disadvantages?

Baker: Yes, because some people said, “We’ll accuse you of sacrificing the interests of your
country for the friendship.” Well, you don’t do that, but if you have the friendship—I call it a
relationship of trust. If you have the trust, you can get a hell of a lot more done than if you don’t.
If you and | are trying to negotiate something and | know I can trust your word, we’ve got a
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better chance of getting there than we do if—and if you think the same about me. So it’s not so
much friendship as it is a relationship, knowing that you can trust your interlocutor.

Strong: And how does one acquire that?
Baker: You test it.
Strong: You test it. What tests did Shevardnadze pass?

Baker: I think I said this early on in our discussion this morning. | never can remember an
instance where he would tell me something and do something else, unless he was just acting for
his generals, and | would know that.

Riley: He would not signal to you.
Baker: No, he wouldn’t signal.
Riley: You had a sixth sense for it.

Baker: Well, you could tell. If he tells you something and then—you can just tell he wouldn’t
say that. But he never betrayed my confidence; neither did Yitzhak Shamir, by the way. | write in
my book that | never met with him except one-on-one. | wouldn’t have any note takers; I didn’t
want any, he didn’t want any. He never once told me anything that he didn’t follow through on,
even though we disagreed fundamentally, particularly so with policy. Shevardnadze is not really
too well now. He never told me anything that didn’t turn out to be true.

Riley: But the question that is fascinating, that scholars are always asking: What’s the role of the
individual in historical events?

Baker: I’ve just tried to explain it the best | can, that you’re always better off if you can trust the
guy across the table, but you’ll never know that until you test him. If he agrees to some things, if
he ever welshes on you or if he ever lies to you, then you’ve got a problem.

Young: You’ve dealt with a lot of different personalities in foreign leaders. What happens when
you have to negotiate with somebody where there isn’t much trust, like [Hafez al-] Assad? How
do you build a relationship that you can get anything out of with somebody like that? Your
accounts of these hours and hours of sitting—

Baker: | spent a long time with Assad, but he welshed on me once. | can remember it like it was
yesterday. And so | said, “Okay, that’s it.” | closed my folder. They were talking in Arabic and
my Assistant Secretary at the time was Ed Djerejian, who’s the director here of the institute, and
he heard him say the Vice President of Syria, [Abdul Halim] Khaddam, who was a hard-line guy,
he said he’s getting upset, he may leave. Ed told me later that’s what they said in Arabic. At that,
Assad backed off of what he had—it’s all detailed in The Politics of Diplomacy. He had told me
something and then in the meeting a day later or two days later, he said, “That’s not what | said.”
Well, it was. But when you do that, you’d better be prepared to walk away. In other words, don’t
ever try to bluff that. | was ready to walk away if what he told me the day before or two days
before was going to change.
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Riley: It was the land issue, the question of U.S. security force on the borders.
Baker: On the Golan—

Riley: Yes.

Baker: Really?

Riley: As opposed to giving it. I’m pretty sure.

Baker: | can’t remember. It’s in there.

Riley: Yes.

Strong: That famous conversation that takes place in the Washington summit with Gorbachev
where he says he can accept a united Germany that chooses its own path, and the people behind
him are all surprised at what he said.

Baker: Any country can choose the alliance in which it wants to join.

Strong: Was Shevardnadze surprised by that statement or caught off guard?

Baker: | can’t remember. Was Shevardnadze still onboard then?

Strong: He was.

Baker: Are you sure it wasn’t Bessmertnykh?

Strong: I’m not sure.

Baker: I’m not either, because | think maybe by that time it might have been Bessmertnykh.

Strong: Those are unusual occasions when a leader says something that all the people sitting
behind him are shocked to hear.

Baker: That’s right, yes. They are quite unusual. I’m not sure that Gorbachev understood the
significance of what that meant, what he was saying. | don’t know that. He’s a smart guy; I
assume he did. If you follow through on all of that, you’ll find that it was only subsequently that
he specifically agreed to the unified Germany being in NATO, with some restrictions on the use
of NATO forces on the territory of the former GDR, but he got 22 billion Deutsch marks for it.
So to what extent was that a deal—at the time he said that at the Washington summit he’d been
talking extensively with Kohl. They got a lot of money, which they needed badly. | got them
money, remember? | went to the Saudis at some point. They were having a lot of trouble and |
specifically remember talking to Prince Saud and we got them a lot of money. I can’t remember
how much. They were in tough shape.

Young: Were you pretty free to make these tentative commitments that would involve money
and support?
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Baker: No, I couldn’t make a commitment.
Young: You couldn’t make the commitment, but it would be tentative.

Baker: But I could say, “I’ll see what | can do with the Saudis.” | couldn’t spend money that
hadn’t been appropriated.

Young: That’s right, but did you have major problems? Can you cite an example of getting an
appropriation for something you thought was a good idea? How much time did it take you?

Baker: Working with the Congress?

Young: Yes.

Baker: A lot of time, because we had a Democratic Congress.

Young: I’m trying to figure out how much slack you were cut on these things.

Baker: With who? By who?

Young: With the Senate and with the House, on appropriations that you needed, for example.

Baker: Well, the Congress won’t cut you any—yYou’re not free to just go out and spend money
unless it’s been appropriated.

Young: | understand that.

Baker: At Treasury you are, because you’ve got a Treasury special fund. They call it—there’s a
several billion-dollar fund we used to—I can’t remember the name of it.

Young: Well, maybe I should be asking this question about the Secretary of the Treasury.

Baker: I used that. That was a slush fund, the Secretary of the Treasury rainy day fund. I’'m
trying to remember what it’s called. It was the secretary-something fund. But you don’t have that
at State. And also you want to make sure that what you’re asking for is administration policy.

Young: Oh, sure.

Baker: You go through the whole OMB [Office of Management and Budget] process and all
that.

Riley: The team that you’ve discussed, did that extend to the core of Ambassadors in these key
areas that you were working on? Did you find generally that they were helpful, or not?

Baker: Well, Ambassadors are helpful, you bet, to a Secretary of State, tremendously helpful.
We had a rule of thumb. I think it was about one-third political, two-thirds career that we would
like to rotate everybody after three years. We kept to that for the four years that | was there.
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Some Ambassadors are better than others, particularly political Ambassadors. Every
administration has their contributors who get political Ambassadorships. Some places you pretty
much have to stick with career people. But we were coming to the point where to get the
attention of another country we could trot the President out in the Rose Garden. For instance,
Saddam Hussein. We weren’t worried about the absence of an Ambassador in Baghdad after
they were all sent home. Even some time before, we’d just trot the President out in the Rose
Garden. We knew Saddam was sitting there looking at CNN [Cable News Network]. We’d say
whatever message we wanted to get to him. So as technology has improved, the role of
Ambassadors has to some extent been mitigated, declined.

Riley: Even as a source of information about the country?
Baker: No, no. It’s still very important, the reporting aspect is very important.

Young: | was interested about the intelligence side of your preparation, knowledge of what was
going on and how to assess the situations you were dealing with.

Baker: Very important, but we have too much. We spend too much and we have too many
disparate agencies in our intelligence community.

Young: Was that true at your time?

Baker: It was true then and it’s even more true now. And so you’re just flooded, the
policymaker is flooded with intelligence reports. You don’t have time to read them all, you can’t
read them all, and yet you’re sort of held to a standard.

I remember in the BCCI, Bank of Credit and Commerce International. John Kerry, when he was
a very young Senator, initiated an investigation. He thought maybe the Secretary of the Treasury
had done something, because there was an intelligence report saying that the BCCI was violating
Federal Reserve requirements or something, some obscure intelligence report that they could
trace to having come into the Treasury Department. Well, | never saw it and it didn’t matter
whether | had or not. You get too much, too much, and overlapping and competitive. Everybody
has their own intelligence bureau. The State has the Bureau of INR [Bureau of Intelligence and
Research], the Defense has Defense Intelligence, and then each of the services have their own
intelligence. And then you’ve got the NSA [National Security Agency] and you’ve got the CIA
[Central Intelligence Agency], and now you’ve got a National Intelligence Chief, and it’s all
baloney, too much.

When | was there we were spending $29 billion a year on intelligence. Now there’s no telling
what we spend on it. Sometimes it’s good and sometimes it isn’t, but is it important for the
policymaker to have some way to go find out, if he can, what his to be interlocutors are thinking?
You bet. Very important.

Young: But you couldn’t trust necessarily what you got.

Baker: Some of it. Some of it was right, but some of it was wrong. But if you could consolidate
all this in one agency, where you didn’t have, as President Reagan used to say, “Fellas, bring me
a one-armed economist so he can’t say ‘Mr. President, on the one hand, I think this, and on the
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other hand, I think that.”” Consolidate it all and have it all boil up to one source and then go to
the policymakers. It would be a lot better, in my view. You wouldn’t have conflicting and
competing claims and you wouldn’t be spending as much money on it. Now you might say,
“Well, then, you wouldn’t get all the views.” I’d say get all the views but have it come up to one
source. Don’t have State’s intelligence agency saying X and DoD [Department of Defense]
saying Y. Then what do the policymakers do, what does the President do?

Young: You found this a problem, actually.

Baker: Yes, but what I’m really saying is it’s an overlapping of functions. It’s a part of the
problem of our government being too big and having too many people up there trying to do the
same job. It’s not just in intelligence. It’s true in other areas as well.

Young: Are there any examples you can think of in your own experience as Secretary of State
where this was a problem?

Baker: | can’t come up with a discrete example for you. I really can’t.

Young: Where for example, something was going on that you didn’t even know about.
Baker: I’m sure there were some of those, but | can’t think back 20 years.

Young: It wasn’t a fatal problem.

Baker: I can’t pull one up from 20 years ago.

Strong: What about before Saddam Hussein invades Kuwait? There’s lots of intelligence reports
that he’s concentrating troops on the border.

Baker: There you go, there’s a good example.

Strong: And then there was a debate. Does he mean it, or is he just bluffing and putting
pressure?

Baker: That’s a very good example. All of our Arab allies were telling us, “Oh, he’s not going to
do that.” By the way, | should tell you that in my view that was the genesis of the coalition to
kick Irag out of Kuwait. What do | mean by that? | was meeting with Shevardnadze in Irkutsk,
Siberia, doing arms control. | get a call from the State Department saying, “We’re worried about
the amassing of Iragi troops on the border of Kuwait. You might want to see what your
interlocutor thinks about that.”

I said, “Eduard, we’re worried that the Iragis are amassing troops on the border of Kuwait and
we’re worried about Saddam’s intentions.” He said, “He wouldn’t be so foolish. Don’t worry, he
wouldn’t be that foolish.” I said, “Our guys are really worried about it. You might want to—" we
were about to break for lunch. *“You might want to check with the KGB [Komitet
Gosudarstvennoi Bezopasnosti] and see what you can learn.” He said, “I will.” He came back
after lunch and said, “He would never be so foolish as to do that. Our people say that’s
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absolutely not going to happen. He may be looking at one oil well that’s right there, or a little
area, a northern oilfield or something, but don’t worry about it, it’s not going to happen.”

Within 12 hours he was in Kuwait, and Shevardnadze was so embarrassed by that experience. In
my view that’s one of the reasons he agreed with me immediately that I would fly from
Mongolia where | had gone from Siberia to Moscow, and he would stand shoulder-to-shoulder
with me in an airport in Moscow and condemn the actions of that Soviet client state. | write in
my book that’s the day for me the Cold War ended, when the American Secretary of State and
the Soviet Foreign Minister were condemning Iraq and calling for an arms embargo. He did both
of those without Gorbachev’s approval and without the approval of the Arabists in the Foreign
Ministry. The intelligence, our intelligence, was not necessarily wrong. Our intelligence was that
he’s amassing, but a lot of people tell us he would never go in.

Riley: You had that example in the Middle East, and then all of these epical developments in
Europe and in the former Soviet Union. The natural question is whether there was, within the
administration, concern about the fact that there had not been sound intelligence that would have
prepared us to expect these things.

Baker: No. The simple answer to that, no. Could you think of a better result than we were able
to achieve? No.

Riley: If it’s a favorable result, then we’re not concerned about whether the intelligence got—

Baker: I’ve already said you should be concerned about erroneous intelligence or deficient
intelligence. That’s a given. That’s a no brainer. But in retrospect, are we concerned that our
intelligence—the answer is no, because everything turned out the way we would have hoped it
would turn out, really, when you think about it. Now, were we just lucky? Maybe so.

I’ll tell you one thing that we haven’t talked about here, and that is George Bush’s prudence and
perspicacity in knowing that he was going to have to deal with Gorbachev and Shevardnadze
after the wall came down and not dancing on the wall. He got unshirted hell from the media. The
same kind of thing, by the way, the drumbeat that’s going on now with a lot of this stuff that we
don’t know where it’s going to end up. But he got a lot of grief from the media for not being
more emotionally exuberant about the fact that the wall had come down. And he said, “Wait a
minute. We’re going to have to continue to deal with these people, and I’m not going to stick it
in their eye.” He was so wise on that, really. Everybody thought he was wrong, but he was right.

Riley: Even some people in the administration, on evidence of other conversations we’ve had.
Baker: Really? There you go.
Riley: At least one speech had been drafted to sort of declare victory. Were you—

Baker: I don’t remember that, no. His instincts on that stuff were really good. | was in that Oval
Office interview when he was accused of not being willing to acknowledge a 40-year victory or
something. | remember it like it was yesterday. He was sitting at the Oval Office desk and | was
right there with him. | remember Lesley Stahl and others saying, “Why are you so
dispassionate?” He said, “I’m not a passionate kind of guy.”
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Young: There was also some criticism or some observations, some of it critical, some of it not,
that when his reelection was coming up there was remarkably little said about his successes in
foreign policy, in foreign affairs.

Baker: Let me tell you, the criticism that I recall that I think was justified was he waited too long
to get geared up and get going.

Young: Yes.

Baker: But even President Bush would acknowledge to you that he tended to compartmentalize.
There was governing on the one hand and there was politics and electoral electioneering on the
other. Somehow Labor Day was the day you converted from governance to—well, that’s not true
anymore. As | said, when | was over there at State, a lot of people would call me and say,
“You’ve got to get him to get going early.” | said, “Hey, I’m overwhelmed over here, the world
is changing. I’m doing all this stuff. Other people are in charge of the politics right now.” With
respect to the second point you make, and that is that we didn’t concentrate enough on our
foreign policy victories, that’s not where it’s at in politics. Let me put on my political hat and
take off my Secretary of State hat. Unless it’s war and peace, unless the country is about to go to
war or suffered casualties or something like that, the foreign issues don’t cut it in our domestic
politics. People vote their pocketbooks.

Young: So the noise level about it may be great, but it actually doesn’t—

Baker: That’s not where it’s at politically. | used to have a saying—I was privileged to be in a
leadership role in five Presidential campaigns, and I said this at the first one, the Ford one, where
we came from 25 points behind and almost won, to the last one. There are three issues in any
campaign for President—the economy, the economy, and the economy, in that order, that’s it.
Unless war and peace intrude, there aren’t any other issues. People vote their pocketbooks.

Strong: Did President Bush like the governance side more than he liked the politics side?
Baker: Yes. I’m sure most people would. | think most everybody would.

Young: Like the what side?

Baker: Governance.

Strong: The governance side, if he’s dividing those activities.

Baker: Probably.

Young: But you don’t divide them, do you, yourself, in your own practice?

Baker: I’m saying that nowadays you don’t—I’m saying you can’t divide. Running the White
House is like one big campaign. When you look at what’s happening now with the technological
revolution, the fact that you’ve got to respond now in minutes and hours rather than days and
weeks, the fact that we’ve got the Internet, you’ve got bloggers out there, you’ve got all these
media outlets that overwhelm the system.
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The 24-hour news cycle is no longer a 24-hour news cycle, it’s a 5-hour or 10-hour news cycle.
So you pretty much have to run an administration like you’re running a campaign. We had pretty
much gotten there in the Reagan years where we had a theme of the day and we tried to put
everything around it. They did the same thing in Bush one, but | don’t think that President Bush
himself personally geared up, didn’t get the organizational aspects of things going as quickly as
he should have for his reelection. I think he would probably even acknowledge that.

Riley: But even before then, this was a President that from the outside, the messaging apparatus
didn’t seem to be as finely tuned as the one in the predecessor operation.

Baker: I’m not sure | would agree with that, because it was patterned after it.

Riley: Within the State Department, you personally as well as the people around you, are all very
accomplished at message, but that didn’t seem to—

Baker: Well, that’s 50 percent of an administration; that’s the foreign half. That’s a judgment
you have to make. | didn’t see a lot of difference, frankly. I think they tried to pattern it in the
same way. But | want to say one other thing about the politics. I’m not at all sure that any prior
preparation on the political side, organizationally or anything, would have done the job, given
the circumstances that President Bush had to run for reelection. He unfortunately had an
economy that was coming back, came back just in time for Bill Clinton. It came back in October,
just before the election.

I’ve said the economy is the issue, and he had to fight that, but in addition to that, he had to fight
maybe three other things. One, a third party candidate who took 19 percent of the vote, and two-
thirds of every vote he took, he took from us; we know that from the polling. And then the fact
that we’d been there twelve years. It’s hard for one party to maintain the White House after eight
years, much less twelve years.

And then lastly, we didn’t do enough to create—at the State of the Union in January of ’92 we
should have gone up with something called Domestic Storm after Desert Storm. He was so
popular and everything, and this suggestion was kicked around by the political guys. Again, |
wasn’t party to it because | was off flying all around the world, but it would have been a good
thing to do. He could have gone up and said, “I’ve dealt with Desert Storm, and the problems of
Irag’s invasion of Kuwait. Now 1I’m going to concentrate on Domestic Storm.” Have something
around which we could build his campaign. We didn’t do that. That was our fault, but Perot was
not our fault, the fact that we’d been there twelve years was not our fault, and the economy was
not our fault.

Young: On the last point you mentioned, which is actually your first point, there’s a fair amount
of people saying, in the oral history, from the Congressional side, that the Bush White House
finished doing its domestic policy in the first two years, and there were substantial legislative
accomplishments then.

Baker: What were they? Americans for Disabilities.
Riley: Clean Air.
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Baker: Clean Air was a big one.
Young: Those are really important.

Strong: And he doesn’t get credit for it, but the budget deal with Congress. There are two steps
to bring down the deficit, the negotiations with Congress in his administration and then the
Clinton tax increases. Those two things matter a great deal, and hardly any credit is given for the
first.

Baker: That’s right. He’s not only not given credit for that, he’s castigated for breaking his
word. No, that’s true, that’s absolutely right.

Riley: Did you have a reaction to that event when it happened?

Baker: | wrote about it in Work Hard, Study...and Stay Out of Politics! | saw Dick Darman in
the car reading the Washington Post headline on one of my Wednesday morning meetings with
Scowcroft and Cheney. I’m walking into the West Wing entrance and it says, “Bush Breaks
Pledge.” And Dick Darman’s my guy now, that’s why he’s there, and he’s a smart guy. I leaned
in the window and | said, “Too cute by half, Dick.” Because they had said we will agree to tax
revenue increases, that’s not increased taxes. Tax revenue increase, you get there by additional
growth. And I said, “Dick”—that was Dick and Sununu—*that’s too cute by half.” That was my
reaction to Dick at the time. Do | think substantively it was probably the right thing to do? Yes.
Politically, it was very damaging, but substantively you’re quite right.

Strong: Because the internal Congressional—

Baker: No, because the tax increase was not accompanied by a spending restraint. Anytime you
give Congress a tax increase, they’re going to spend that and more if you don’t have spending
restraint.

Young: But as | said, there was a widespread perception that the White House was not going to
do anything further on domestic affairs.

Baker: Well, I’ve just said that I think we should have—

Young: While the economy—there were all kinds of complaints coming from Republicans,
donors, everything.

Baker: That’s right, that’s right.

Young: We’re talking [Robert] Mosbacher and others, they said it was this. And you’re saying
that—

Baker: You heard me say we should have gone up with something on the domestic issue or the
economy around which to coalesce a campaign. | really believe that.

Young: And you had a lot to build on for that, too, that you could have capitalized on.
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Baker: What could we have done besides a Domestic Storm kind of thing? You know what we
went up with? Some crime initiative. That wasn’t right. Now, do | fault the President’s advisors
for telling him the economy is coming back? No. It was coming back. The technical people were
right, but there was no political patina on it. There was no effort to come up with something
around which we could run for reelection. That’s true. That’s what you just heard me say. But |
think there are four reasons we lost. That’s one of them, but the other three are overwhelming.
The economy, in the state it was in? Now, doing what we just talked about would have helped on
that issue, but nothing would have helped on the Perot question and nothing could have been
done much about the fact that we’d been there twelve years. And people were tired of us,
particularly the press were tired of us.

Riley: Is Perot somebody you’d known in Texas?

Baker: Not me, but 41 had known him. | write about that too, about how he shot the messenger.
I write about the meeting in the Oval Office between President Reagan, Vice President Bush, and
me, when President Reagan said, “We’ve investigated this top, side and bottom, and there are no
Americans alive in Vietnam. You guys are from Texas. Do you want to tell Ross?”” The Vice
President said, “He supported me in my—I’ll be happy to tell him.” He told him.

Young: And paid a big price.
Baker: I think so.

Riley: | want to ask a question about how you keep yourself going. During these mass travels
and all of the variety of high-pressure things that you’re dealing with as Secretary of State,
physically, how do you manage?

Baker: I got very tired on a lot of those trips and sometimes even a little disoriented. One trip, |
think it was 38 hours long. | came from the Middle East, to South America and somewhere else?
I can’t remember what the statistics are. But | would get out of the limo sometimes and be dizzy.
But I had a nice airplane with a stateroom, a bed. My poor staff didn’t have the opportunity to
stretch out, but I did, and I used Halcion at the time. At the time, Halcion was okay. It was only
later they said it’s really bad for your health. | found it really worked for me. I could get six
hours.

Riley: That’s for sleep?

Baker: It’s a sleeping pill. I could get six hours of solid sleep, and I did, but it’s debilitating.
You ask Hillary [Rodham Clinton]. She’s talking about it now. She’s saying how tiring it is, and
I was older, I think, than she is. How old is she? The women don’t tell.

Riley: She must be right at 60.
Strong: She’s a little older.
Baker: Yes, see | was 60. | was 58 to 62 when | was Secretary of State.

Riley: And eating habits? You had somebody on there? I’m just curious.
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Young: Russell has been doing a lot of traveling recently.

Riley: I’m thinking yesterday—yes, when 1I’m in Charlotte, trying to get on this crowded
airplane and I can barely breathe. How in the world does somebody live?

Baker: Well, the Secretary of State’s airplane is a little bit nicer.
Riley: That’s true, but I’m not living on it for—

Baker: You have the Air Force to feed you and all that.

Riley: Right.

Baker: But I didn’t even go on the wagon. | would have a drink. I’ve just come back from the
Middle East, | was there for ten days, and on this last trip I didn’t drink much on the way over or
the way back, and that helps a lot. I’ve been blessed with good health.

Riley: Did you ever find yourself stumbling because you were—

Baker: No, but as | say, you could sometimes be a little disoriented. | was going to so many
countries in such a short period of time, sometimes you’d think, Now, where am | today?

Riley: I’m sure.
Baker: But | managed it.
Strong: Did the President’s health issues matter in ’92?

Baker: | think there’s a lot that’s been written on that. You can talk to Burt [Burton] Lee, the
President’s doctor. You should do that. He had Graves’ disease. People said he didn’t really want
it; he didn’t seem to be out there fighting for it. That is total baloney. I told you how competitive
he is. He worked his tail off in the 92 campaign, and he very much wanted it. I don’t know the
extent to which the Graves’ disease was debilitating. | really can’t tell you that, but it was
certainly not a lack of desire or effort or competition. That wasn’t it. | know that because we
worked him really hard.

Riley: Did you find any surprises when you came back to the White House? Was it working the
way you thought it would?

Baker: | brought my own people in, because in something like that, you’ve got to have your own
people. Of course it would have been better not to have to go back to the White House. It would
be better to go to the campaign, like I did from Treasury in *88, but the law had been changed, so
I had to go to the White House. The law had been changed, so that having been Secretary of
State | would not have been able to have conversations with the people I worked with in
government for a year at the Cabinet level, if | had gone out into the private sector for his
campaign.

Riley: Of course. | see now.
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Baker: So | came back as Chief of Staff. When you have an incumbent President, you run the
campaign anyway from the Chief of Staff’s office. It’s where the body is, it’s where the message
is, and the 84 campaign was run right out of my office in the White House. That was the biggest
victory any President has ever gotten. We got 49 states, damn near got Minnesota, against
[Walter] Mondale. We had the arrogance and temerity to go into Minnesota on the last day. We
lost the District of Columbia and Minnesota.

Young: | wonder if you’d like to have some thoughts to help historians, or those who are going
to be revising history or looking at history, about the importance of the personalities. You dealt
with this tremendous range of personalities from different countries with different interests. You
were spending a great deal of time in that.

Baker: I’ve said personnel is policy. I’ve said that if you can develop a relationship of trust
when you’re negotiating with somebody, whether it’s in a law firm or in business or as Secretary
of State or whatever it is, it will help you get good things accomplished. Human nature, being
what it is, you’re going to be confronted with a lot of different people, a lot of different
personalities. The foreign policymaker in our government is always going to have to find the
right mix between our principles and values, which are a foundation of our foreign policy,
support for democracy and human rights, and our national interest.

You see that today in spades in what’s happening in the Middle East, but it’s there in almost
every foreign policy relationship. It doesn’t crop up with our relationship with the UK, for
instance, because they’ve got the same paradigm, the same philosophy, but it crops up in—a
good example is what we’re facing today. How do we handle this with Saudi Arabia? They don’t
subscribe to our principles and values. That doesn’t mean we don’t try to promote our principles
and values, but it also means we’d better do it with full recognition of the geopolitical
consequences involved in, let’s say, a revolution in Saudi Arabia or a protest that results in a
collapse of the government. Who’s to say what’s going to come next in Egypt?

We confronted all of that. We confronted it in China, we handled it—again, this is an arrogant
thing to say, but we handled Tiananmen Square just right. We sanctioned China; we said, “This
is not the way you treat your people,” but we kept the relationship going, an extraordinarily
important relationship. We don’t need to be an enemy of China and they don’t need to be our
enemy, and George Bush was able to thread that needle and walk that line. We didn’t give up on
our principles and values, but we didn’t go to war against the Chinese government because they
didn’t share those principles and values. We handled it just right in much of the Cold War,
particularly toward the end, where we were able to get Soviet Jews to emigrate from the Soviet
Union because of our commitment to human rights and still keep a geopolitical relationship with
our number one opponent out there. It didn’t devolve into something really bad.

Young: In an earlier time, the word “linkage” was used. You know you can’t link our foreign
policy to our human rights issues and others. You don’t link these two.

Baker: Linkage was an overused term in my view. | understand what you’re saying.

Young: It was way back—
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Baker: | gave a speech at the Library of Congress, the [Henry] Kissinger annual lecture at the
Library of Congress, about three or four years ago.

Williams: Three years ago.

Baker: —three years ago, that | called “the case for pragmatic idealism.” I’ve said it’s too bad
that we cannot practice foreign policy according to the principles of Mother Teresa, because we
believe in those, but we can’t. Why can’t we? We can’t because if we were to do that we would
be intervening in every protest all over the world, whether it’s Rwanda or the Congo or—

Young: Tahrir Square.

Baker: Tahrir Square or Libya or anywhere else. We’d be in there militarily. You can only
sustain a foreign policy for this country for as long as the American people support it. The
American people in our democracy are the final arbiters of our foreign policy, and when you
cross the line where there’s no longer a national interest involved and you’re just doing it all on
idealism and the body bags start coming home, you lose the American people. And when you
lose the American people, you lose the policy. That’s why it was so important for us to try to get
the Congress in the First Gulf War. You lose the policy.

Young: But it may not win you the next election.

Baker: Well, that didn’t cost us the election.

Young: No, but I mean the foreign policy successes didn’t, as you said earlier—
Baker: That doesn’t guarantee you an election, no, no, but it guarantees you—
Young: It didn’t give you much credit to deal with.

Baker: Presidents seek credit and need credit on two issues: prosperity, the economy. | told you
that in my view it’s 99 percent of it, and peace. | also said it’s the economy unless it’s war and
peace. You have to have the peace too. Now if we’re so idealistic that we’re going to intervene
militarily in every conflict, every dispute around the world, we’re not going to have peace.
Stability is still important in foreign policy, but that doesn’t mean you sacrifice your principles
and values. You continue to support them, but it doesn’t necessarily mean that you send your
young men and women to fight and die in every corner of the globe, either, and that’s the line
you have to walk. I’ll tell you who was very good at walking that line—George Bush. Really
good. When faced with an egregious violation, as in the case of Irag’s aggression against Kuwait,
he said immediately, “This isn’t going to stand,” and he went to war to reverse it.

Young: Now you have stateless terrorism.
Baker: Now you have stateless terrorism.
Young: Doing just as bad things.

Baker: Yes, and that’s a threat to the homeland.
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Young: Right. And how do you—?
Baker: You have to confront that from time to time.
Young: It’s going on everywhere. What can you do and where do you do it?

Baker: You do what we’re doing, and that is, you focus on your counterterrorism efforts. You’re
supervigilant. You roll up these efforts to attack the homeland and you try to prevent breeding
grounds. You try to resolve the Arab-Israeli dispute, for instance, in the Middle East, which
serves as such a breeding ground for some of this. You try to prevent Afghanistan from
becoming a failed state once again, where this stuff can breed.

We’ve got this problem now in spades. You’ve got it in Yemen, the possibility of a failed state;
you’ve got it in who knows, Egypt. Who knows who’s going to take power? Fortunately we have
the Army in Egypt and they’re close to the United States. We give them their supplies and
they’re a force for stability, but you don’t have that in some of these other countries. And what
should we be doing in Bahrain, where the Saudis are afraid that Iran is going to—would we
rather have Iran on the Arabian Peninsula? You’ve got all these—Bush was a wonderful leader
on all that stuff, because he knew it can’t just be all one or the other. You can’t just be always
realism and no idealism, or you can’t just be always idealism and never realism. You’ve got to
look at each country and the fact situation in each.

Strong: Isn’t there an irony, if the Cold War is over, if the Middle East is going in the right
direction, if our alliances are healthy, then you can elect an Arkansas Governor? Peace actually,
in some ways, makes the talents and successes of the administration less compelling.

Baker: I’m not sure | agree with that. | think any time we elect a President, more often than not
we’re electing somebody with no foreign policy experience. Any time. Jimmy Carter was elected
during the very height of the Cold War, turned out to have been surprised by the Soviet invasion
of Afghanistan. I don’t know that I buy that.

Riley: What would a second Bush ’41 term have looked like?

Baker: We would have had a shot with Yitzhak Rabin. We would have really had a shot at an
Arab-Israeli peace deal. We were making a lot of progress. Bill Clinton, for all the work he did,
and he did a lot of good work trying to get one in his second term, he postponed dealing with it
to his second term for political reasons. And that’s been the problem with most of our Presidents.
George Bush had the guts to try and deal with it in his first term, Obama’s had the guts to try and
deal with it in his first term, but he hasn’t succeeded. It’s too easy to postpone that one. | think
we would have had a great shot. As you’ve indicated in your question, we had the world going in
the right direction, and another term would have given us the opportunity to cement some of that.
Now you don’t know what would have happened. Who can tell?

Riley: Would you have gone back?

Baker: I would have gone back to State, notwithstanding some of the things he said in the
campaign. You remember at one point he said, “I’m going to ask Jim Baker to do for the
economy what he did for the foreign policy of the United States.” Do you remember that? In an
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exchange with—I didn’t think that was something he should have said. He didn’t talk to me
about saying that or anything. But all I’m saying is | would not have gone somewhere else. |
would have gone back to State.

Riley: Do you think the rest of the team probably would have stayed intact, or have you got
burnout?

Baker: I think there would have been a lot of it that would have stayed, particularly the foreign
policy team. | don’t know where he would have gone for a Chief of Staff. He would have had to
get a new Chief of Staff. He tried Sununu, he tried [Samuel K.] Skinner, he tried—I guess it’s
just those two.

Riley: Did he talk to you before he designated Skinner?

Baker: I’'m not sure he did. He didn’t ask me to be the executioner on Sununu. | think he asked
George W.

Riley: That’s what we’ve heard.

Baker: Is that right? | don’t know that he talked to me. | can’t remember. | was really out of
politics when | was Secretary of State. What about some lunch?

Strong: That’s a good idea.

Riley: Thank you.

[BREAK]

Riley: Hang on just a second. Okay, we’re back on, go ahead.

Baker: | wanted to call your attention to a passage in the transcript of the conversation between
me and Tariq Aziz just before the ejection of Iragq from Kuwait. | think it was January 9th or
something like that. I had been asked before | went to that meeting, by the Defense Department,
to tell the Iragi Foreign Minister that if they use weapons of mass destruction on our troops, we
would respond. And so what | said to the Minister was, “Minister, if you use weapons of mass
destruction on our forces, the American people will demand revenge, and we have the means to
exact it.” Then | said, “That is not a threat, it is a promise.” So after they captured Saddam and
debriefed him, they said, “Why didn’t you use your chemical weapons when the Americans were
coming?” And he implied—maybe he didn’t say this in so many words, but implied—it was
because of what Baker told Aziz at Geneva. So it was effective.

The Obama administration has changed the nuclear posture review of the United States to now
provide that we will never threaten the use of our nuclear deterrent for diplomatic or political
purposes, never threaten another country that is in compliance with its Non-Proliferation Treaty
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obligations. We will not threaten. | think that’s a terrible mistake, based on this real-time
example of how such a threat really worked to protect our troops, because Iragq was not in
violation of its NPT [Non-Proliferation Treaty] obligation.

Strong: They were, but we didn’t know it. They were in violation of them with the activities
they had ongoing.

Baker: Do we know that they had enough activities ongoing to be in violation?
Strong: Yes.

Baker: I didn’t know that.

Strong: They had clandestine nuclear development activities that they had not reported.
Baker: I see. Okay.

Strong: So technically they were not there.

Baker: We know they were.

Speaker: Lunch is ready whenever you are ready.

Baker: We were just about to wrap up.

Riley: We’re headed that way, thank you. Great.

J. Baker, 3/17/11 45
© 2011 The Rector and Visitors of the University of Virginia and the George Bush Presidential Library Foundation



FHRSHEAC R Ay e, . Mameon from 1/9/91

et

i ¢ - ﬂ}g ' meeting w/Iraq
u%clhss ; | United States Dep: ™ Aziz, Geneva,
| Switzerland.

e o

st -{Vﬂ,ieﬁ-,aﬁ._-.m,;.'.",.";‘:"‘;:“,.'::f'":f’:f"".. Washington, D.C. 20 -b\’ Qe
& .’ i ,.,_"'. Q :}.% EE}
: : K gtre
IO SEE (ACE S \tr §22
: ’ N
MEMORANDUM OF CONVERSATION E Na
: Q —
DATE: WEDNESDAY, JANUARY 9, 1991 -
TIME: 11:15AM - 7:00PM 2
PLACE: HOTEL INTERCONTINENTAL : 2
GENEVA, SWITZERLAND - V*-g q
—_— ' alg 2 -
& < 8
PARTICIPANTS: 28 Q%
25
U.s. THE SECRETARY %-00 !58
ROBERT M. KIMMITT . !:“
JOHN H. KELLY PO —
MARGARET TUTWILER Fg o
DENNIS B. ROSS 8okt
LTG HOWARD GRAVES d5te
STEPHEN HADLEY piad ™ g
SANDRA CHARLES e g
GEMAL HELAL (INTERPRETER) i e i
Q S0 g
IRAQ TARIQ AZIZ, DEPUTY PM & FM Slw =85
NIZAR HAMDOON, DEPUTY FM SEE S 2
BARZAN AL-TIKRITI, AMB IN GENEVA EldSnadgs
RIYADH AL-QAYSI, AMBASSADOR, FORMIN g ®W¥oa
KAMAL ISSA, DIR., FM'S OFFICE X o _2&
BASSAM KUBBA, MIN. PLENIPOTENTIARY IN FORMIN
SADOON AL-ZOBAIDI, (INTERPRETER) MIN.
PLENIPOTENTIARY IN FORMIN
ABDUL MUNIM ALKADI, COUNS., TRAQI MISSION, GENEVA
SABBAH HAMMAD, SECRETARY
(NOTE: FM Aziz spoke in Arabic unless otherwise indicated.)

- Baker: Let me say that this is an important meeting. I hope
you agree that we meet as representatives of two .sovereign states,
albeit statées with significant differences. Our purpose ought
not, in any sense, to be to pressure each other. However, it
should be 'no surprise that I'm not here to negotiate from the
resolutions passed by the UNSC. I am here to communicate,
.Communication involves not just talking, but listening, I'm
willing not just to talk, but to listen. I hope you will join me
in a spirit of willingness to both talk and listen. o

'~ I will proceed in whatever order you would like. 1It's your
choice. If you'd like to begin, that's fine with me., Otherwise,

I'1l go first,
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But, before you decide, let me give you a letter from President
Bush to President Saddam Hussein, and ask you to dellver it. The
original is in the envelope and a copy on top.

Aziz: Thank you , Mr. Secretary. I truly hope this meeting
will be fruitful. 1T believe the way to achieve that is that we
should listen to each other.

I am aware of your position. I know there are huge differences
between us, but I am willing to listen to you. I welcome your
w1111ngness to listen to what I have to say. Regarding the letter
you have given me, allow me to read it, if you don't object,

Baker: 1 have no objection., That's why I gave you a copy on
top. We are providing as a courtesy an informal Arabic
translation to your ambassador in Washington.

(Aziz reads letter 511ent1y for five minutes underlining
several sentences.)

Aziz: Mr. Secretary, at the outset of this meeting in your

'~ speech you said your purpose was not to pressure each other. But

I have read this letter from President Bush to President Husseln,
and this letter is full of expressions of threat. 1Indeed, it is

worded in a manner which is foreigh or alien to the usual manner

used between heads of state. That is why I can't accept the way

the letter is worded and I repeat I am going to have to apologize
for not receiving it., I suggest you can publish it in the press

or give it to the media. And we will respond in our own ways.

I hope this won't impede thlS meetlng, because we are truly
w1111ng to talk. We haven't talked since the beginning of the
crisis. And now our two peoples are posed to confront each -
other. It would be useful before we enter confrontation to

.explore all possibilities through which some understandlng can be.
_establlshed between our two countrles.r

Whlch is why I ‘cannot accept the language in whlch your letter
is worded, even though in it President Bush states that he doesn’'t
mean to threaten, but to inform, And I prefer that we communicate
out positions in a civilized manner, expre381ng mutual respect -850
that if God helps us we can reach an understanding, good. ' But if
we may fail to reach an understanding, and I don't wish to see
that happen, then it w111 be for each party to know th1s as well.

I wish to listen to you flrst.
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‘come as a consequence of a misunderstanding of the patities or the

Baker: Let me make clear that I don't see the President's
letter as speaking in a language that is not civilized, and two,
it is important that we clearly understand each other. So the
purpose of the letter is to make clear what we've been saying for
five months: that the international community is very serious
about enforcing twelve UNSC resolutions.

I can't make you take the letter with you. I won't try.
Whether we publish it is a decision to be made later. We may, we
may not. If we don't, the only person who will know what‘'s in it
on your side will be you.

That seems a large responsibility for one to take on one's
self. If that's what you want, so be it.

This all began, in our view, on August 2 when you invaded
Kuwait, an action condemned in twelve UNSC resolutions. Those
resolutions don't just condemn the act, they demand its reversal.
We cannot renegotiate the terms of those resolutions. You can
appréciate that, as you argued against renegotiating the terms of
UNSC resolution 598 by Iran. UNSC resolutions are not subject to
renegotiation. Therefore, the only question is by what path you
leave Kuwait -~ a peaceful withdrawal, or withdrawal by force.

Clearly, if there is a peaceful settlement and you withdraw,
those in power in Iraq today will have a say in Iraq's future. - If
withdrawal takes place by force, others will determine that future.

We-have the feeling that we owe it to you, to your President,
to your people, to our people, and to people around the world
supporting the UNSC resolutions, t¢ express in very clear terms
how we view the consequences of non~compliance. You can
characterive our efforts to inform as- threats, but we hope you
won't. I hopeé you understand that it is incumbent on us to tell
you  and dtherS»the facts as we see them regarding use of force.:

That s one reason President Bush asked me to meet you. AnéV
that's one reason why he wrote his letter to Saddam Husseln.

If conflict comes -~ and let's hope it doesn't —-- it shouldn't.

facts, Preéesident Bush instructed me to inform you that we will.
close our embassy in Baghdad on January 12. We will remove the
remaining five diplomats. We will not request all your diplcmats
to leave Washington. You can have two ot three. there. That w111
be your choice. . . :




We hope we still have a chance for a peaceful solution. That's
what 678 called for -~ "a pause for peace." I think I've already
explained that a pause doesn't mean we can change the terms of
prior UNSC resolutions. We can't.

I know you know the terms of the UNSC resolutions, but for the
benefit of everyone here, let me review them. Those resolutions
require the immediate, unconditional withdrawal of Iraqi forces
from Kuwait, and the restoration of Kuwaiti sovereignty and the
legitimate government of Kuwait. 8o I have no brief here to
negotiate short of those resolutions, nor should we if this
international body is to have any meaning. The international
community in our view has already resolved thodse questions.

" I have information that I'd like to get across to you and your
colleagues. You must understand our viewpoint as to how isolated
you are in this dispute. I want to get across to you what we
honestly helieve will be catastrophic consequences for Iraq if
military force has to be used. .

Let me say one more time that this is not meant to threaten,
but to inform. You may choose to reject or not believe what I
say, but we have a responsibility to tell you we think we have
tremendous technological advantage in forces there, and a
treméndous advantage in overall weight. of the forces in the region
aligned with the international community and against you. And I
tell you that in our view, if conflict comes, your forces will
face devastatingly superior fire-power and forces.

In our view -- and you may reject this and disagree; if so, you
are entitled to your view -- but we believe these forces will
really destroy your ability to run the country. And they will
destroy your ability to .command your own forces. I would like to
say that if conflict ensues -~- which we don't want and you say you
don't want -- we will give your forces in Kuwait a chance to save
themselyes. It is not our plan to confront them directly or
immediately in a manner reminiscent of. your war with Iran, But
those who don't choose to save themselves .will, in our -view, be
incapable_of'defending against the air, sea and land attack that

will follow,

in our opinion. If conflict follows, there will be no UN
ceasefire or breathing space for negoétiation. We have said in
public over the past four or.five:months that if conflict begins,

.We owe it to you to tell you that there will be no stalemate,




it will be massive. This will not be another Vietnam. We won't
put forces into a battle for which they are not equipped to do the
job. Should war begin -- God forbid -- it will be fought to a
swift, decisive.conclusion.

There is one more point on what I would characterize_is the

daTk S1dé oF Ethis 1Ssue before we proceea to Ene~other side. The
Conrlict ensues

point 13 thig: 1Ff con and you use chemlcal or
Blological weapons against US forces, the American peo Te will
demand vengeance. And we have the means fo exact 1t. Let me say

With regard to this part of m TSSentation, this Is not a threat,
1 S omise. ere 1s any use of weapons like that, our.
objective won't just be the liberation of Kuwait, but the

elimination of the current Iragi regime, and anyone responsible
for using those weapons would be held accountable.- As the
President said in his letter, we dlso will not tolerate terrorism
against Americans or our coalition partners, or the destruction of
Kuwaiti oil fields, as has been threatened.

So finally, Mr. Minister, in our view and that of our coalition
partners, as well, war will destroy everything you fought to build
in Iraq, and ‘it w111 trigger, thanks to your unwillingness to
withdraw from Kuwait, a conflict that will turn Irag into a weak
and. backward country.

So, we hope there is another path, and I hope that we will not
be left with this as the only means to enforce the UN
resolutions. I am glad to have the chance for this meeting
because we worry about miscalculation by the Iraqi government. We
think your President miscalculated badly regarding the will of the
international community on your invasion of Ruwait. We hope you
will not make another even more serious miscalculation about the
" will of the United States. There have-been other totalitarian
rulers in the past who thought the. Unlted States was not willing
to fight, and they have paid the ultimate price for that mlstake.
We urge you not to repeat those m1stakes.

Don't. mlslnterpret the voices ‘'you hear coming from our
democratic society. You should know that our, system encourages’
this. Because of open debate, we feel that ours is the strongest
system of government in the world. Americans w111 unlte to f1ght
a war if they are left with no other ch01ce. :

Let me turn to the other, brlghter side.

&zizi The carrot and the stick.
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Baker: That's very perceptive. I am told you worry about
being attacked whether you withdraw or not. Let me repeat,
face-to-face, the assurances that I myself and President Bush have
made publicly. If you comply with UNSC resolutions we won't
‘attack your country, military or government -- provided there is
full compliance.

Secondly, the large US force presence that we have 1s there
because of what we perceived in August to be a grave threat and
danger as a consequence of your disproportionate military power in
the region to the rest of the Arabian peninsula. We have no
interest in maintaining large force levels there, especially those
designed to give us offensive capability against Irag, once Irag
withdraws and the threat recedes. )

Thirdly, let meé say, as you may know, we support Kuwait and
Irag settling their differences peacefully after withdrawal as
required in UNSC resolution 6690.-

So, let me say again, I am pleased to have the opportunity to
meet. I am glad your President determined to send you to Geneva,
As I said, this is the last best chance for peace. 1 honestly
believe that. I hope we can somshow find a way to settle this
peacefully, politically, and diplomatically. :

Aziz: You have said that all of this started after August 2.
We have a different view point. I am pleased to have an
opportunity to explain to you and your delegation this view.
Before we enter this, I 'wish to comment on your presentation.

For several months now, we have heard from you, President Bush
and other US officials that Iraq doesn't know what it's up
against, or what is surrounding Irag, and doesn't appreciate the
dangers that may come as a result of the military confrontation.
We would have hoped if we had met e€arlier, so that we could have
remdved this misunderstanding about -this- and other aspects, We
have been leading our country for 22 years. The average age of
our leadership is in the fifties. 1I'm 55, My President is 54. I
"believe you would agree that this is a mature age, =

Baker: That's qﬁite young.

‘Aziz: Not really. Sages say wisdom begins after 40. We have
had long experience leading our country and dealing with these
issues. I admit our experience with the United States is limited,
and so is yours in dealing with us. Now we are moving toward
confrontation. ' ‘ T : :




i ’ + . R ek e

— A ey Fr -
Pl e 2L TR SR LT L il TJ‘_':”.

[P EPERERAV R

I met with you in October 1989 for less than an hour. Mr.
Kelly visited last February. 1've known President Bush from a
brief meeting in 1984, The only US official who has met my
President is Mr. Kelly. I conclude that we don't know each other
well, But othérs know us -- some of your allies, and not just
your allies in the region —- but around the world, others like the

French, Germans and Italians.

We understand fully what's happening around us. Since August
2, we have been expecting US military action against Iraq. We
know what the US means. 1It's true, as I said, that our experience
with you is limited on the level of the two leaderships. But we
know the basic facts of our work. Among these facts is the fact
that the US is a superpower, and recently has become the only
superpower in the world. So, when we behave as we do, you must
have no doubt that this conduct on our part wasn't the result of
ignorance on our part, You are an advanced country, and have
moved tremendous weapons to our region, I assure you we know
exactly what you've moved to the area. We know the efficiency and
destructive power of each weapon. We are a diligent, active
government. We work hard, read, analyze, and follow up. We have
demonstrated this, Some Americans have dealt with us and left
with the impression that we are serious people. All left with the
impression that we don't lie or cheat.

We are direct people. We have our own views which may not be
acceptable to others., But these views come out of genulne
belief. We are always open to civilized exchanges of views with
the United States and others.‘

I must tell you also that we follow the discussions taKing
place in-the U.S. This is part of our dally work. We watch them

~on U.5. TV, Some of us understand Eng11sh in a humble manner. We

know what goes on in Congress, and what is printed in the press.
We have no illusions about your intentions. We know President.
Bush has a strong position in your country, and when he decides he
is in a strong position. We know democracy, and how 1t operates.
It is true our pplitical system is not like yours, but we, have -
been leading our country for 22 years, and have dealt with and
vigsited many countries, We know how democracy operates: yours,
France's, Germany‘s. ‘ IEE R : : '

-What is at issue is not lack of 1nformat10n or "illusions on our
part about your intentions, or miscalculations about your
intentions, or your ability to take de0181ons.- As I sald, we
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expected military action on your part from the very beginning.
However, we have taken the position we have and have called all
along for a meeting between the two sides to talk.

My President expressed this desire on U.S. TV.  You kept
saying: no meeting, no negotiations except after Irag does this,
that, and that. We interpreted this as a determination on your
part to take military action, because we failed to understand why
you didn't want a meeting. HNow we are meeting and you are telling
me what you came to say. And I tell you: we are two mature men,
Neither of us will deceive the other., I am not going to convince
you with the views I am conveying to you unless you find something
important or convincing., 8o, talking is not harmful. And it
certainly can be useful in different degrees.

We are aware of the costs of war. We have been at war with
Iran. It is true- that Iran is not the U.S., but there were pages
in the war with Iran that were difficult indeed. You were a
member of the previous administration, and were in a position to
Follow the situation. During the years of war with Iran, few
American citizens thought we would come out safe and sound.

Baker: You almost didn't.

Aziz: That is not an accurate assessment. We came out of that
war victoricus. We finishéd it with a giant achievement. We '
achieved an important result and outcome. We protected our
country against an expansionist, aggressive regime. It cost a
great deal. The heaviest cost that affected us was the post-war
economy. The economy suffered a reduction of revenues. 1 have no
illusions about the cost of war. My youngest son is eleven. All
he has seen in his life is war, air raids, and Iranian missiles.
War is not a strange thing, it is abhorrent. ' '

There is & verse in the Koran, describing war as an abhorrent
thing: “fighting has been forced on you to do although you hate
to do it." - S ) : T T S

So, we know these facts, and we. know your determination that
war will be destructive. Despite this, we've taken the position
we have these past five months. You must ask why. Are these '
people ignorant? Are they isolated? . -

Yes, during the past five months we have not had much contact
with other countries. They have refrained from contacting us. We
know them well. The European Foreign Ministers -- the French, the
Italians -- we have talked with them and had lunches and dinners




with them. 8o, before August 2 we were not isolated. Now without
the existence of contacts, we have sufficient knowledge of the
world, So we must have some fundamental reasons. Before I talk
about those reasons, I wish to comment further on your remarks.

vou've said if Iraq doesn't do certain things, the present
leadership won't determine Irag's future, others will. That is a
miscalculation on your part. Our system is not like yours, but
those who reach leadership in Iraq and remain as long as we have
must be equipped with strong qualifications to stay so long. I
say this without arrogance, despite the fact that part of your
statement contained some insults. The present leadership will
continue to lead Iraq now and in the future. Those who will
disappear are not in Iraq, but some of your friends in the region.

We have a people who stand by us, and are convinced of the
position we've adopted. You describe our regime as totalitarian.
This is a Western description. -

Baker: I am ﬁestern.

Bziz: Your phraseology. In our country we have a different
history. I think you know that Iraq as a nation is 6,000 years
0ld, and it has witnessed successive kingdoms, empires, and
civilizations, and contributed to the civilization of mankind. We
are descendants of that succession. It's true, we are living in
this age and have to be influenced by it. We have our own values
in managing our country. These values motivate our people to
stand by us. Our people not only support us, but they love us.
These. are the facts. Anyone who gave you a different impression
is wrong. They have misinformed.you.

How will this conflict terminate between us? ¥You are a
superpower in the weapons you possess. You have your own
assessment of the effectiveness of these weapons, you have your
own plans, .and you are convinced that 'in war with Iragq, you will
be the victor; you -will destroy us. We have-a different view. I
‘can honestly tell you that the population 19 .million in Iragq,
includihg the leadership, is convinced that once war breaks out
between us, our conviction is we will be victorious. I say this

without arrogance.

- - Baker: What I have said, .I have also said without arrogaﬁce;
It is important for us to talk that way. But I am equally as’
"certain of what I say: o o o
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Aziz: I appreciate at least the tone in which you spoke. I am’
prepared to respond. Each of us has our own convictions, and our
own reasons. That doesn't mean that we don't want to reach an
understanding with you. As civilized people, we prefer an
understanding, and to live in this world on the basis of peace and
understanding to insure a better world for our peoples. But I
want to say that war doesn't intimidate or frighten Iraq. Iragq
doesn't want war. I am sure you don't either, as humans. But you
said if we don‘'t do certain things, you will attack us.

Baker: No, what I said was that there are twelve resolutions
that we can‘t amend or renegotiate. They must be implemented.
Now for five months, there is no indication that Iraq is willing
to abide by those resolutions willingly without the application of
force. We are fast approaching the time when yoiu may face the
implementation of those resolutions with force.

Aziz: I understand what you said. In the final analysis,
you've said you may have to go to war, and this means you don't
fear this possibility. I, too, don't want to see war, but if it
happens I have no fear of it. The issue of war is not one of fear
on our part or yours. I genuinely believe what I said. We have
not had any miscalculation despite what is said in the Congress or
- the US press. I hope you won't miscalculate our capability to
endure the costs of war. '

So the question is why. We must have fundamental reasons.
We've been in power 22 years and at war with Iran for 8 years.
That war was costly, so how can we come to endure the burden of a
new war unless we have fundamental réasons. We, too, are humans,
and we love life if it is a dignified life. For our women,
children, grandchildren -- although I do not yet have
grandchildren, but soon. 8o we know what war means —- the
killing, destruction, and bad economic impact. 8o we must have
our reasons, -

. ""So let's go back before August 2. When I visited you in
.Washington in October 1989, I said we desired good relations with
the U.S. based on mutual respect ahd cooperation. I tell you now
honestly if we leave aside the differences regarding the
Arab-Israeli conflict, then Irag doesn't regard itself as’ an €nemy
of -the U,8, and we do not want to play the role of the enemy
against the U.8. or any role that may threaten the U.S.

Until now Iraqg hasn't contributed to the death of a'singie U.s.
citizen. .We now find ourselves facing each other. ~We will kill
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many of you, and you will kill many of us. That is not our
desire. We came out of a war possessing a big military power.
How did this come about?

We didn't possess military power in 1979-80., It came about
during our war to defend our country.. How could we face Iran? In
January 1987, Iran attacked Basra. It ‘launched an offensive with
400,000 soldiers, 400,000 mad men, determined to die. They weéere
fighting 24 hours a day and killing thousands daily. They came
wave after wave, killing thousands per hour. You know -- you
watched.

So it was -incumbent on us to possess the power to confront this
threat, and the danger to those you protect now. Had we failed in
confronting Iran, you would have sent your forces to confront
Iran, not Iraq. 8o our force was a force made to maintain the
balance in the area and to protect the security, stability, and
wealth of the region, including your interests.

21

.We didn't propose to be protecting your interests, but the
results were there for all to see. This shows the way in which
the region is interconnected with the interests in the world. And
how have we been treated? With suspicions, accusations, and
abuse. During my meeting with Mr. Kelly in Baghdad, we talked a
great deal about this, and we talked about this in his meeting
with Saddam Hussein. What was the situation like before
August 2?7 There was full-scale propaganda against Iraq, abusing
the Yragi leadership. There was incitement against the Iragi
leadership. An economic embargo was in effect. You froze .
contracts on grain and agriculture. These dealings were one thing
we discussed when we met in October 1989. This happened before
our forces went into Kuwait. You and your allies took measures on
technological boycotts against Irag before August 2. Your press
described my President as the most dangerous man in the world,

The front page of US News & World Reéport on June 4 said our -
President was the most dangerous man in the world, and Newsweek-
called him Public Enemy Number One. s o :

I've said we have not been responsible for the death of one
American or threatened US interests anywhere in the world, so why
is Saddam Hussein Public Enemy Number One? Why? You krow the
reasons, In March 1990 we expected an Israeli attack against
Irag. Israel threatened ‘to attack our industrial and
technological installations. We took precautionary measures.
Motivated by wisdom, we -thought we shduld warn Israel to avoid the
delusion of attacking without our .retaliating. B ‘ '




So, we decided to warn them, and be clear. On April 2, Saddam
Hussein said that.if Israel attacked us, we would retaliate and
burn half of Israel. We were talking about an Israeli nuclear
hit, Ms. Tutwiler described our words as "outrageous" and
President Bush asked Saddam Hussein to withdraw his threat. What

we said applied only if Israel attacked, but the "if" -~ the
condition -- was taken away from the official U.S. position., We
didn't react officially to the U.S. position, but received
important people —~- like Senator Dole with McClure, Simpson and

Metzenbaum, who came and met Saddam Hussein in Mosul. §Saddam
Hussein was clear and said if Israel attacked us with nuclear
weapons -- then we would have binary chemical weapons to use
against Israel on the basis of self-defense. If Israel attacked
with conventional weapons, then we would retaliate with
conventional weapons.

‘Baker: That was not made clear in your original statement,
which was not conditioned on a nuclear attack. The way it came
across in the West and in the press was the threat by your
President to use chemical weapons against Israel., I'm just saying
there was a serious miscalculation somewhere. You should
understand that when someone who has used chemical weapons against
Iran, and in our opinion against the Kurds, threatens CW use
against a nelghbor, it's a matter of great concern. What you're
telllng me is that this was a busted .signal, but what I'm telling
you is this is how it came across in the West.

Aziz: That may be how you understood it, but we had to expect
that when Senator Dole went back he must have communicated our
position to you, and conveyed to President Bush the content of his
meeting with Saddam Hussein. -So0, we had no intent to initiate use
of CW, but we were determined to retaliate against Israeli
aggression. At that time, I expected war against us by Israel,
against us and against Jordan. The Jordanians must have voiced
‘their concern to you. o

Baker: . I don' t remember anythlng from Jordan.

Rogs: - There was concern expressed by Egypt about potent1a1
miscalculation by Irag and Israel, and Egypt was doing all that
could be done to réduce it. - ' - ' o

Aziz: There was a letter sent by King Hussein, to President
‘Bush.in June 1990 which contained ideas telling President Bush
¢learly, how can you expect Iraqg not to be cautious of the US at a
time when the U.S. was taking measures to threateh the life of the
Iragi President? I recall mentioning this in my meeting with you
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in October, 1989. That's what the letter from King Hussein
clearly says. 8o the picture in 1990 was one of Israeli threats
to Irag with the prospect of war between Israel and Irag, and an
Israeli threat against Jordan, and an Israeli thredt to the
Palestinian people through the influx of Soviet Jews into the
Occupied Territories. This was discussed at the Baghdad Summit.
The statements of the Summit all had to do with Israeli threats to
. Iraq, Jordan, and the Palestinians. In addition, there was an
American boycott against Iraq, coupled with the process of
indermining Irag's economy. You know Iraq is in possession of

many resources, not just oil, and we have a hard-working people
and an active economy, There was no reason for Irag to come to
the verge of economic collapse, but the rulers ‘of Kuwait brought
Iraq to the verge of economic collapse.

In December 1989 and January 1990 o0il was selling for $21 a
barrel, 1In February 1990 the former rulers of Kuwait flooded the
0il markets, bringing prices down to $11 a barrel or less., Any B
dollar less in the o0il price is one billion dollars less in Iraq's
budget. In effect that means a destruction of Iraq's economy, and
constituted the basis for war against Iraqg.

At the Baghdad Summit Saddam Hussein addressed all Arab heads
of state, and said that what is being done by certain membér
states with over-production is tantamount to war against Iraq.
Anyone not meaning to wage war against.Irag should refrain from
perpetrating .that policy. The statement was made public. There
are dozens of statements by you that say what was done on August 2
was unprovoked aggression. But the first warning issued by Saddam
Hussein was preceded by diplomatlc contacts between us and them.
Following the Baghdad Summit, at the end of May., we sent the Iraqi
deputy prime minister to Fahd, Jabir, .and Zayyid to address this
‘issue., By then Irag was on the verge of econdmic collapse. And
there was ho reason for these actions by Kuwait and the UAE. They
refused to hold a summlt. We held an oil ministers meeting at
which we. agreed to go to previous quota levels, but’ the Kuwaiti
0il minister issued a statement after theé meeting which sald
Kuwait would: go back to the o0ld.position in two months" tlme.‘
What he was saying const1tuted war- agalnst Iraq. : :

What I want to explain in brlef is that our reglon is now under
the threat of war.. We have suffered from the threat of war ‘for
over 40 years, We have been through war. We Have suffered pain
and. instability as a result of the Arab-Israeli conflict. - Irag is
threatened by Israel; you know Israel attacked us in: 1981, I£
Israel attacked Jordan that would constitute a.threat to Irag. At
the same time the Gulf regimes, who are enormously wealthy, didn't
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find it enough to be rich, but wanted to destroy a nation. 5o
when ‘people are subjected to threats for decades, and there is a
threat at this juncture of boycotts and economic destruction, what
do you expect of our President? What do you expect this country,
our country, to do? :

We had to take action; we had to defend our country. So we
struck against those conspiring against us. I know you have a
different view point. On August 6, the President asked us to
summon your Charge, Mr. Wilson, to the MFA building for a long
meeting at which he was asked to convey to President Bush a
message which said "I am not surprised by the position you have
adopted. You have international requnsibilities. You are a
superpower. Naturally, you view things from d different angle. I
hope you will understand our position.® Now what should we do?

I won't invite you to renegotiate the resolutions. That's not
what is at issue. What is, is we together, with others in the
region and the world, are prepared to work for a just,
comprehensive and lasting peace for the whole region, so all
peoples can live in peace and stability. Or are you not
prepared? You now pay lots of attention to the Gulf. You regard
it as priority number one. If the resolutions are not achieved in
accordance with the UNSC resolutions, war will erupt.

We have other priorities. The.Palestinian question is
important to us. We genuinely pelieve that unless this issue is
resolved, our security in Iraq will continue to be threatened.
You reject linkage, but I tell you truly that linkage is there.

It is a fact —- a fact of life in the region. If you are edger to
establish security, peace and stability in the region, you must
address all these issues. There are othér UN resolutions to be
jimplemented.- But there are no forces sent to implement them, and
no decisions on an economic boycott to force those responsible for
implementing those resolutions to do 50. : :

, We feel pain, we are angry to see  this ‘double-standard on the
UN resolutions. I want to hope that a ‘single standard could be
adopted. . I -tell you truly, we have no problem regarding the
implementation of legitimacy or implementation- based on rules of
fairness and justice if they are implemented in all of our )
region. "And in line with our interests and our hopes, but not
only on one issue. If so0, then thHat stresses a double-standard,
and it means .a continued thréat to our country. This is our
fear., If you are ready to work for peace, security, stability and
justice to prevail in .all our region, then we will be in the
forefront of those who will cooperate with you. . ' S




Baker: Thank you. As I said, it is important to hear your
view point. Let me address your last point on the question of the
security of the region as a whole and the gquestion of other
problems. :

1 tell you frankly that you didn't invade Kuwait to help
palestinians. And if you did, it has had the opposite effect.
Our view is that your occupation of Kuwait is a large obstacle to
broader peace and stability in the region -- not a catalyst for
achieving it.

You can characterize what the international community sees a
unprovoked aggression against a small peaceful neighbor as
defensive if you wish., But others will think that ludicrous. If
you wanted to help the Palestinians, then you would withdraw
unconditionally from Kuwait. '

We have no double standard on UNSC resolutions. You are aware
that the resolutions on the Arab-Israeli conflict provide
principles for negotiations. They don't require immediate, )
unconditional withdrawal as do the resolutions on Iragq's invasion
of Kuwait. ‘

The resolutions on the Arab-Israeli conflict came after a war
launched against Israel, and there are vast differences between
the resolutions. Beyond that, I think you know I care about
resolving the Arab-Israeli conflict. I spent 14 months trying to
bring about an Israeli-Palestinian dialogue and believe we came
very close. I think.your friends among the Palestinians would
confirm that. It is important to understand that that was a
practical way to make progress, to give them hope, and té improve
their circumstances. B .

I would recall to your memory that when we met on October 6,
1989, T asked you specifically to help Palestinian moderates to-
make progress on this issue possible. You demurred, ‘and said it
was not appropriate for you to give advice to the PaIEStinians.

Now, suddenly, after your “defensive™ action,. now. suddenly you
want to make the Palestinian issue the centerpiece of your
discussions. I have to tell you in candor that we both know you
didn't invade Kuwait to promote the cause of Palestinians. The
point I am making is that we worked hard on . this. issue before, and
it is our policy to continue to work to promote peace among Israel
and the Arabs -- once this ¢risis is resolved. :
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You are aware that President Bush spoke in his UNGA statement
about possible opportunities once there is a reversal of what the
international community believes was your unprovoked aggression
against Kuwait. So after you withdraw unconditionally from
Kuwait, prospects for real progress in the Arab-Israeli peace
process would improve. And the reason is because this will show
that violence and aggression don't work. The Arab/Israel issue
can't be resolved based on threats and intimidation. Those
committed to reconciliation, not confrentation, will gain in the
region. That is why we insist on no linkage.

Turning to your comments about W HO T P :
Newsweek, etc.: you are knowledgeable about the U.S8. You know we
have a free press. People can write and say what they want with
small limitations and say-what they believe, even without basis in
fact. I tell you honestly, in the aftermath of your invasion of
Kuwait, a lot of people in the world would agree that US News and
World Report was accurate in saying that Saddam Hussein was the
most dangercus man in the world. I know you know that Arab
Jeaders within the international coalition do believe they weren't
told the truth, that they were deceived.

It's hard -- it's impossible -- for us to accept as defensive
what was the brutal subjugation by a large power of a small
country on its border. As we see it, the fact that Iraq was _
having economic difficulties was more a function of your spending
your considerable wealth -- and you aren't a have-not nation -- to
augment a very large and disproportionately powerful military.

The so-called hoycotts by the U.S. came only after statements on
the use of CW against Israel and only after we became concerned
about extraordinary efforts by your .government to acquire rnuclear
_wWeapons. S ‘

You say it is not ycur desire to find yourselves on thé brink

‘of war with the United States —- nor is it ours with you. But we
aren't alone. This isn't just the U.S. versus Irag. Twenty-eight
_nations have military forces in the Gulf. TYou say Iraq's military
power was used against Iran to promoteé peace and stability in. the
.region, but your use of military force against Kuwait -hasn't. -
helped peace and stability. Quite the reverse is true. You -
complain.that you weie treated with suspicion in the summer of
1990. -I would say your actions subsequently, arguably, justified
the suspicions some had in the summer of 1990. T

You_hay:want to react. Then we could take a break.

Aziz: I would like to continue to talk now or we could have a
. later session, R ' “
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Baker: It's up to you. It depends on the time for your
lunch. Let me say this. I started by saying that this is an
important meeting, I also said that this is the last chance for
peace. There may be no chance for success, but as I said we'd
like to find a peaceful, political solution. You have said the
same and I don't know any other way or time to do that than now,
8o I and my schedule are at your disposal.

Aziz: I also am at your disposal and want to continue our
conversation, So let's have a break.

Baker: Let's break until 2:15. (It was 1:20 p.m.)

Second session began at 2:30 pmn.

Aziz: Let me make some remarks and observations on your
remarks. I'd like to make clear some facts. F1rst, with regard
to the way you and I addressed the Palestinian issue in October
1989, if my memory serves me well, you said to me in English, I'd
like to solicit your support for the ten point plan. &t the time
I said to you that we'd been following the subject, and we were
told about it by the Egyptians, and we in general supported
-efforts made that would lead to peace.. Your reference to
Palestinian moderates, if you meant by this the legitimate
leadership -- Arafat -- we of course support this, and them for a
long time. We have never tried to halt their efforts to achieve
peace. Instead we extended help to them which is why we now get
strong support from them. This is evidence of how healthy our
relations are and how we know their intentions. They want real
-peace achieved and have éexpressed this desire on many occasions.
Finally, the economic measures taken by the United States against
Iraq started before April 18, 1990,. considerably before.

Bakér: It had to do with your-weaponry.

- pziz: ThlS decision wds taken before April 18, 1990 before
,Saddam s statement We had an agreement on foodstuffs that ‘was
halted beforée that date. In January 1990 the program was. frozeén.
You had a delegatlon come .to Baghdad 1ater. You did release half.

"'BakﬁL: I remember we talked about that durlng your v151t The
reason we held some . of it was because of the criminal - ‘
lnvestlgatlon ‘with respect to which Iragi offlc1als were 1nvolved

A&L&: I recxprocated your concern and said. that we would
investigate these wrongdoings.




Baker: Allegations,

Aziz: We received the delegation in Baghdad, but nothing has
appeared. OQOur Minister who is c¢loser to this can explain.

Hamdoon: Late in March a team came from Agriculture and sat
with our people,

Aziz: On the boycott measures in the field of technology and
weapons, they also were taken before and after April 1990.

Baker: For which we make no apology.

Aziz: Yes but you took measures for an economic boycott and
technology embargo. You conducted a vigorous media and propaganda
campaign against us, and your allies, the Israelis, threatened a
military attack, all of this took place before August 2. On the
Palestinian issue, you describe our position as not genuine. We
have been committed to the Palestinian question for decades.

Baker: We don't mean to make allegations that you don't have
genuine feelings. We know you are concerned about Palestinians,
bgt I suggest that is not the reason you invaded Kuwait.

Aziz: That's your view. 8o our commitment to the Palestinian
question is geriuiine and the Palestinian question is related to
Iraq's security. Iraqg has taken part in all armed conflicts of
the Arabs against Israel. 1Israel is threatening Iraq as much as
the other Arab states. 1In 1981, Israel committed flagrant, open
aggression against us. If Iraq had had the capability, we would
have retaliated and had a wmidjor confrontatlon with Israel., The
connection between the events .of August and the Palestinian
question I have explained. We were convinced that there was an
alliance among the US, Israel and the former rulers of Kuwait to
destroy Iraq. We struck one partner in this alliance, the only
one we weré capable of hitting directly. Hence £from this comes
the 11nkage. And hence we declare such’ actlon as defensive. Now
“there is .a confrontation and you are on one side of .this ' :
confrontatlon. With you are some of your .allies. and Israel. And
we are in it. If this confrontation results in military action,
which will be the parties to take part? These are well known. So
if you want to make peace, these parties should have a part to
play in making peace. Here comes the role of the Palestinian’
~question. I-tell you henestly and realistically .that the events

of August and afterwards are one hundred percent connected to the
Palestinians. _ S
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Let me give some examples: You must receive reports that .
Palestinian people in the occupied territories support Irag and
carry pictures of Saddam with Arafat. Why has this happened?

From a financial point of view, these were hurt the most since
August 2, Yet in spite of this, they support Irag and the
Palestinian leadership is with Irag. I think they are in a better
position to talk about their position than you or me. So when
they say they see in the curreéent situation a golden opportunity to
achieve their rights, they are not proceeding in a vacuum. There
must be some fundamental grounds for this.

On the military power of Irag and the threat it represents, and
about your claim that what was said in US_Hgﬂs_And,HQLlQ_E&aQLt
was substantiated by later events, we have announced
unequivocally, in candor during the time follow1ng Saddam's
statement of April 2, and made clear that Iraq is prepared. to see
all weapons of mass destruction eliminated from all areas. But
Israel possesses nuclear weapons, That is no secret but there is
hammering against Iraq's chemical weapons declaring them
- dangerous. We said yes, we have such weapons, and other parties
have them, and we are willing to work to see all these weapons
eliminated.

During the meeting with Saddam and Senator Dole and other
senators that subject was discussed fully and your Ambassador to
Baghdad was present. And at the May Baghdad summit we reiterated
that position and it still stands., It is still ours. We are
ready to discuss this comprehensive elimination. We are willing
to discuss it in a framework of a comprehensive settlement in the
region, within the framework of the complete elimination of all
weapons of mass destruction -- nuclear, chemical and blologlcal
weapons. On misgivings and fears and clalms that Irag possesses
nuclear weapons, we are a country that is 'a signatory of the
Nuclear Nonproliferation Treaty, and our humble installations have
been placed under  regular inspéction. But your ally, Israel,
about whose nuclear possession you don't doubt, -you make no noise,
isn't a 51gnatory to this treaty and still refuses- to 51gn, and
frefuses to let anyone 1nspect its installations.’

So when we talk about the double standard,‘we have strong
grounds. Tangible evidence seems to us to . show that US p031t10n
is that Israel can possess what. it wants, but the Arabs aren't
.@allowed to even have weapons for their own self-defense. 8o this
position of ours on weapons of mass destruction 15 a clear,
.responsible and just position. If those who pose ‘a threat to us
possess these weapons, then it is our right to possess them too.
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But if you can guarantee arrangements with equitable treatment, we
are ready for that. You have now taken this unequivocal pledge
from me, but you can't get a similar pledge from the Israeli
Foreign Minister or Prime Minister. :

Bakeri There is a fundamental flaw in your argument. Because
of the fundamental difference between Iraq and other countries.
That difference arises from your use of those weapons of mass

destruction.

Aziz: I will address that. There was a bloody conflict
between us and Iran. The very life of our country and people was
threatened. We had to take measurées to protect our people. At
that time I talked with Genscher and said to him in Iran, when
they imprison girls from the opposition and send them to death,
they raped the virgin girls because in their belief if the girls
were executed while virgins they would go to heaven. So to
prevent them from going to heaven, they raped them before
executing them. I said I have two girls, and I was not going to
allow them to behave like this with my daughters. So we retained
the right to use any weapon to defend my country and people
against such barbarisn.

On use of chemical weapons against the Kurds, the event of
Halabja was mentioned in a Washington Post report, taken from a
study by the Army War College. According to the study, it was
Iran that started using chemical weapons at Halabja. As to the
allegation that we used it after the ceasefire, that was not
proven. You've accused us but had no evidence that Iraq and our
leadership behaved irresponsibly. We 4o have these weapons, but~
never used them irresponsibly, only in the defense of our country
if needed. If you want to test us, we are ready. We are prepared
to work together to eliminate all weapons of mass destruction.
There are no guarantees when you kill those possessing such
weapons, so is it not better to go into civilized dialogue so you
and they can reach agreement on the elimination of these weapong?
Our proposal stands. Israel is the party that is. refusing. You
have to convince Israel. You have dot influence, so there should
be no problem, ‘ ' ' ' i ' o -

Regarding our differences on UN resolutions, are we talking
‘wording or fundamental substance of international legality?
Naturally, UNSC resolutions differ from one.to another but the .
_purpose behind all of them is to achieve peace, justice and .
fairness. The resolution ori thé Palestinian question should be to
achieve justice, peace and fairness, but the resolution was never
implemented and the Palestinians face oocupation, injustice, ' =~
terrorism, and intimidation. These are facts. ' o
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Israel perpetrates annexation of the Golan Heights and
Jerusalem, an Arab city, and up to now, Israeli officials talk of
the West Bank as Judea and Samaria. A few days ago Shamir said it
. was needed for security of their country. The result to Arab
" ¢itizens, Arah people, to us in Iraq, the practical outcome is
that the resolution is not being implemented. No measures are
taken against Israel's refusal to implement the resolutions. To
the contrary, the US helps Israel financially, politically,
militarily while its occupation continues. Wwhile in this
situation you keep saying that we have resolutions that have to be
implemented, including a total embargo that covers food, milk, and
nmedicine, against Iraq. So the double standard is there. If we
indulge in a legal discussion then there would be a lot to say.

We know how the 12 Security Council resolutions were adopted. But
you have never travelled to capitals to see that UN resolutions :
were adopted except in this case; you traveled tens of thousands
of miles to convince UNSC members to support and adopt the last
resolution. Also we know how you adopted other resolutions and
what your role was. So we view these as UN resolutions against
Irag and one proof we have is the fact that you and T are sitting
here. The dialogue is not between us and the UN Secretary General
nor between me and the Foreign Minister of Ethiopia, the Ivory
Coast or Romania. This confrontation has turned into one between
the US and Iraq. We know you have allies. We do too. Maybe ours
.aren't as clearly there as yours. In other words they are not
states whose names are mentioned but we aren't separated from our
people in the Arab nation. Many Arabs stand by us. If there is a
confrontation between us, you will have your allies, and we ours.

So shall we proceed forward to a confrontation or seek
pragmatism and justice as the means to achieve peace? We are _
convinced that peace can't be achieved in the region unless there
is a comprehensive settlement of.all issues, especially the
Palestinian question. It is the mother of all problems, This has

been the factor that has caused all the instability +in the region.

I sometimes tiy to ponder if Iraq with its present leadership,
power, potential and political abilities, if Iraq were in Asia or
Latin America, there wouldn't be any problem between us because as
I said, we don't regard ourselves as your enemy. But Israel and
their influence ‘on you, this. is our problem both before.and after
August 2. There should be discussion in earnest on the basis of
international legality ‘and the rules of justice and fairness, then
maybe our differences could be overcome and we would not find -~
ourselves in a confrontation. When I visited you in Washington,
it was to discuss economic, cultural,.and cooperation in all .
fields. I would have received you in Baghdad for the same
purpose. We are no threat to you or your interests, Mr. Secretary.

_ , ,
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You don't look at us purely from a US viewpoint. In many cases
you put on Israeli spectacles. A few days ago we had two US men
visit us, John Connally and Mr, Wyatt, an oilman. Wyatt worked
with Iraqi o0il companies for fifteen years. He saw me and I asked
him to give me his impressions after his dealings with us for
fifteen years. He said they had been “fruitful and clean." 1
asked him to say the same thing to American officials at home. .We
possessed huge oil reserves before August 2 and dealt with the ’
world responsibly. We sold to the US market 700,000 barrels a day
of our 3 million. That is a high proportion of our production
"~ market. A country like Iraqg is interested in the economic
situation in the United States because the seller is always
interested in the welfare of the buyer. The supplier wants to
make sure the purchaser can. buy. That is why we don't threaten
your interests whatever your view. Whatever the results of the
present situation, we don't intend to threaten your interests. If
there is aggression against us of course we will respond --
1mmedlate1y, vigorously, effectively, bit responsibly. Once these
clouds aré gone, we have no desire to threaten anyone. It is
regrettable that we are moving toward military conflict at a time
when we don't know each other well. Your don't know us. You will
regret that if we fight.

- BaXer: There are obvious differences between us. You talked
about not threatening our interests, but you should realize that
Presidents since Roosevelt have declared our interests vital in
the Gulf. Now you don‘'t threaten those interests because we moved
expeditiously to ensure you didn't and can't. There are Arabs,
some of whom are our coalition partners, who have told us up to
the day of invasion you were telling them that you had no
aggressive intentions. S0 those are the facts we must factor in
as we take account of your represéntation.'

Nevertheless, taking you at your word, the issue is not that
you threaten American interests, the real issue.is whether world
order is-based on principle and whether there is a functioning
body for keeping peace and stability and shaping that larger world
order. I don't doubt your conviction. But I am amazed you are so
certain of the rightness of your position in 1nvadlng Kuwait- -when
the whole world has condemned it. Evén your allies in the Arab -
world have condemned the fact of your aggression, albeit they may
be with you in whatever happens from now on. As.I said, for us,
there is a big element .of right versus wrong. - We can't let.
aggression be allowed to stand or be ‘the tool by which dlsputes
between large countries and small nelghbors are -determined. It
can't be the standard. You may reject the UN actlon and say they
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are only following the United States like a small puppy. But that
is not trué. If our position was not right and just, then we
would not have been able to secure the support of other
countries. They have coalesced in this unprecedented way. They
have never banded together before in the manner in which they have
done so in this case.

You have made a terrible miscalculation and our sincere hope 1is
that you will not make another. We don't pursue a double standard
on enforcing UN resolutions or on weapons of mass destruction.

You know Israel was the subject of aggression and occupied the
territories as a result of a war waged against it; they occupied
the territories as the result of defending against a war imposed
on them. ’

Aziz: I have great reservations about your description.

Baker: On weapons of mass destruction, the US also is
jnterested in discussing the problem of weapons of mass
destruction. We've even suggested the possibility bétween Israel
and its Arab neighbors of confidence building measures following
our experience in Europe.  But not as a condition of your
observance of the UN resclutions and withdrawal from Kuwait. We
obviously don't make as much noise about countries that possess
these weapons but don't use them, as we do about those who possess
them and use them. I note your denial on use against the Kurds.
We have a differencé of opinion. However, I hastén to agree that
UN resolutions should be enforced regardless of the area or the
group. But there is a difference in a resolution calling for
unconditional withdrawal and one that establishes principles for
negotiation. f S

Let me pick up on your saying .that the Palestinian leadership’
thinks there is a golden opportunity to promote &and advance their
cause now. ‘That may be the best argument I ever heard against
linking the two igsues. We believe aggression shouldn't create
opportunities.. Aggression can't provide a durable foundation. for
sattlement of the Arab/Israeli problem. The only golden
opportunity for the Palestinians would be created by your
withdrawal, not your aggression. Thus we are unwilling to link
the two issues, : ‘

A quick word on your comments on econonic warfare by Kuwait, I

-think you would agree that Kuwait prQVidedjgenerbus-backingnin
‘Iraq's war against Iran. I was told,; at .your request in a mid
July OPEC meeting, there was agreement to set the target p;iqe for

0il at $21 per barrel,
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Aziz: There was no OPEC meeting.

Baker: Be that as it may, we, the international community,
can't accept a military invasion and subjugation of people to
decide an economic dispute particularly when financial aid from
Kuwait to Iraq during the war with Iran was substantial.

Aziz: Whatever our differences, the meeting remains useful.
It helps clarify many matters. You have stated two or more of
your allies told you things about our intentions. I know the
story of President Hussein and Mubarak. T was there.

Baker: He was not‘the only one,

Aziz: But hear my story. Allow me time. There was a meeting
on July 15 in Tunisia. At that meeting I gave a speech that Egypt
interpreted wrong and got angry. When he found out, Saddam called
‘President Mubarak and said: "You are upset with Tariq so I am
sending him to explain." I have known Mubarak for years and our
relations are amicable, I entered his office and said I am in
front of you. Send me to Abu Zabel prison. We laughed. We
talked about Kuwait because my letter to the Secretary General of
the Arab League was made public. This was July 17 or 18. After
finishing my meeting, I asked for my leave so I could see King
Hussein for a meeting we had already scheduled. He said, no stay
here, I called Saddam and asked if King Hussein would come to
Cairo. So I stayed. Osama al-Baz came and asked for my view on
an initiative between Irag and Kuwait. We are now sitting in an
historic meeting and I am not in the habit of speaking ill of Arab
heads of state, even one standing against us. But for the sake of
history I must say what I say now, When Osama said that Mubarak
was willing to mediate on Ruwait . question;. I was worried because I
know Mubarak well, I met him that ‘morning and found him ignorant
of the history of the region and what the situation was like in
the 1940s and 1950s. And all the information I heard was
surprising. My feeling as a diplomat is when a person’ like that
wants to mediate a case like this, that mediation is bound to be,
in your words, messy. . ' : .

I said to him that Saud al Faisal had met with my President in
Baghdad. He promised to come again. And we said: "Let's see what
Saud will decide.* So I stayed in Alexandria and met with King.
Hussein the next day. A few days later President Mubarak went to
Baghdad .and met with Saddam. He had with him Abdel Meguid, Osama,
Sharif, his private secretary, Zakaria. On our side there was me,
Hammadi, Ramadan. The President left the meeting smiling saying:
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"My brother Hosni, please don't do anything that will make Kuwait
rest assured. Don't let them feel assured. Nothing will happen
before the meeting that has been scheduled, “ Ag a diplomat, what
would you conclude? We said the same thing to King Hussein. He
had a different conclusion. 8Saddam didn't tell him what we would
do but he knew the history of our problems which is why he went to
Ruwait and told them the 51tuat10n was grave indeed. They didn't

heed his warning.

|

Unfortunately President Mubarak didn't behave accordingly.
Whether this was done jll-intentioned or innocently, you may be
aware. We have a history in dealing with countries of the region
and "we have not lied to the countries of the region.,"”™ When we
have differences we make our views clear and dt times pay dearly
for our candor. We don't have two policies--overt and covert. I
was a witness to this fact. It is a fact,

Baker: I hear what you are saying. There were others beside
President Mubarak who say they were misled and assured by your
government that there would be no aggressive action by your
government.

Aziz: That is not true.r.It is important to our credibility.
Whether you like our action or not, it is important to set the
record straight.

Baker: But reports were given to us by a number of heads of
state,

Charles: 1In addition to President Mubarak, the President
talked to King Hussein and King Fahd who had both been assured by
you that you would not take any military action against Kuwait.

He did so because he was concerned by the size of the Iragi
buildup on the Kuwaiti border. He felt it was critical to talk to
many leaders in the region, He spoke to King Hussein both before
and after his meeting w1th the Kuwaltls and to Pr651dent Mubarak

" Aziz: No, Mubarak communlcated before the visit.

‘Charles: President Bush also. spoke to King Fahd on’ August 1
because he was worried about the break-up of the talks in Saudi

Arabia.

Aziz: I am, certaln King ‘Hussein came out with a conclu51on
dlfferent from what Mubarak said. I know what Klng HusSeln sald
to Kuwait. Let's check it with him together._ :
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Baker: You can send a message to him and we can send a
message. 1 know from my personal conversations in the aftermath
that Saudi Arabia, Kuwait and the Egyptians and others believed
the representations by your government that no military action
would be taken against Kuwait. I don't question what you're
saying having been a party to the negotiations. I just want you
to understand your Arab brothers in the region tell us they were
misled. )

Aziz: Their positions today give them reason for
misrepresenting us. That's why I cite King Hussein. Though he
doesri‘t share all our positions, he's not in the opposition camp.
King Hussein would not misrepresent us. President Mubarak and the
Saudis were not surprised. o

Baker: They tell us they were. And I believe King Hussein

‘ assured us there would be no attack, but we will check the record
of the conversation with the King.

Aziz: You should check the Kennebunkport record.

Baker: I was there.

 Aziz: About the other matters you raised, you talk of a new
world order, based on international law principles and
international justice., I am with you. I want such order
eéstablished. It should be-implemented and applied to all not just
one situation. I& can't be based on your view only. You must
take into consideration our views and concerns, what threatens our
interests. If you can ensure that, we will participate with you
in establishing this world order. -We know what size Iraqg is but
in a new world order, Irag can-be happy because it is in
possession of great potential, and active people and leadership.
8o, a new world order doesn't frighten us. It is not contrary to
our interests. ' .

. On your description of what we did on August 2 and that you
can't agrée our action was self-defense, you are a man of o
expérience and an expert. You know our forces are différent and
powers are different, If you compare Japan and the U.S. :
militarily, then the U.S8. is a giant and Japan a midget. From an
economic view point, however, Japan can .undermine your economy.
You have complained about this. . ‘ . .

_Baker: We would never, never, never,'neverutake up arms..

Aziz: You did before.
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Baker: When we were attacked.

Aziz: The former regime in Kuwait was an economic giant and
did threaten Iraqg's existence and security. -When you go to the
situation of Israel in the Occupied Territories, you have stated
two times or more that Israel was the victim of aggression against
it and you referred to the 1967 war. I believe it is a wrong
interpretation of history because Israel first started the war
with Egypt. That is a well-known fact. You and I were living
then and followed these events. 8o Israel's occupation in 1967
was a result of flagrant military aggression against the Arab
world. It still has the territories except for the Sinai 23 years
later. They officially annexed the Golan Heights and Jerusalem,
about which there was a special UN resolution.

I addressed weapons of mass destruction to explain our position
before August 2 and later. The reason is that you talk about this
aspect vigorously. <You and President Bush say Iraq presents a
threat and a danger. I can tell you how we can address this, if
we can, and are willing to address it in a manner to strike a
balance in the region to ensure security for all parties.

As far as who is using these weapons and who doesn't, we have
explained our position. There are no guarantees from Israel so it
guarantees are other than total, elimination will not be assured.
Any time we try to achieve a comprehensive peace, the position of
Irag is clear. It is one of a desire expressed to achieve the
removal of all weapons of mass destruction to achleve concrete
guarantees as you have w1th khe Sov1ets.

With regard to golden opportunities for the Palestinians, I
have tried to explain their feelirigs. They know better their
feelings, they have suffered for over 40 years. They know where
their interests lie and have their own instincts as to where their
interest lie. At the same time, the Palestinian leadership is |
c¢lever and knows who will express their interest -and who doesn't.

. You see in your military presence a measure of 'protection for
your interests against our threat. I tell you we have no desire
to threatén your interests. Try it; test it. You have said you
don't believe that we did what we dld because of the .
Palestlnlans.' I say test us. Put What we have sald to. the. test.

‘Baker: We are testlng you now. We have great SUSPIClonS
because of what you have done to Kuwait, and your failure to
comply with the solemn resolutions of the world commuanity.  You
can overcome that by expressing your willingness to comply. So
consider yourself tested with this request.




This request comes six days before the UN deadline, one you
don't accept, but one I must say in all candor is very real in the
eyes of the rest of the world community. So consider yourself
tested. That would do more to permit Irag to rejoin the world
community, to end its isolation, and to end the greatest threat to
your security. It is not the Palestinians, its not the Israelis
that creates that threat to security. Frankly, it is you that
pose that threat because you continue to possess a neighboring
country in the face of UN resolutions saying you should move.

That is the biggest threat to your security. Please believe me
whenn I say this, I'm not threatening, I'm just stating the facts
as we see them. It is good that we had this meeting.

One thing I want to say in the spirit of frankness that has
characterized these discussions is that no one in the world would
buy your explanation, including those allied with you, that you
acted in your self-defense against Kuwait. I would be less than
honest, if I didn't tell you we reject this argument and see it as
being totally without merit. I don't gquestion your belief, but I
tell you that it will not wash with the rest of the world,

About this goldén opportunity, let me make this point, this new
world order that you and we want in the aftermath can't be an
order in which aggression creates opportunities. That is not the
world order that we want. We regret that there is a difference of
opinion on the facts concerning the Occupied Territories and how
Israel came to possess them. I will let Dennis Ross respond since

he has studied this.
Ross: I will make this short. .
2ziz: Mr. Ross, how old. are you?

Ross: Well, according to your definition, I'm two years past
the point of acquiring wisdom.” So-I-guess I'm old enough to be
able to talk abéut the events in 1967. In any case, I have also
read and studied this subject thoroughly. I won't belabor all the
points, but if you. go back to 1967 and ‘look at the sequence -of -
events, Nasser asked the UN to remove its forces; from the Sinai.
An arrangeément that Egypt had accepted as a part of the settlement
of the Suez War. When the Israelis withdrew, the UN sent in. .
peacekeeping forces in 1957, something Egypt accepted. .When the
UN responded to Nasser's demand, Egypt not only moved its forces
into the Sinai, but it also blockaded thé Strait of Tiran, which
was Israel's access into the Red Sea. They also moved five -
divisions to Israel's border. ' L T
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Aziz:

Ross: Yes,

Li3SHED

it was within their borders.
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But this was inside their territory.

At the same time, the

Egyptian Defense Minister declared that his forces poised on

Israel's border would invade and
Those were his words.
wait to be attacked.

under those circumstances,
It hit Egypt,

"push every Jew into the sea.”
Israel didn't
and asked Jordan to stay out

6f the war, saying we won't attack you if you don't attack us.
Jordan chose to attack first, opening fire on Israeli positions in

west Jerusalem.

Aziz

So from Mr. Ross I understand when there is a threat or

provocation, then it gives a state the right to take military

action. ‘
"judgment in absentia.*
Council resolutions.

Mr. Secretary, you are a lawyer. :
You have spoken of the UN Security

For fifty years Arabs have had no problems.

You know the meaning of

with Security Council rescélutions and Iraq has had no problem

accéepting these resolutions. We
Concerning the Iran-Iraq war, we
résolutions. We were present in
the Council. Iran refused to go
you take the resolutions adopted
Ambassador Pickering went to the
Ambassador and submitted a draft

have remained committed.
participated in these

New York and discussed them with
to the Security Council. 8o if
only hours after the events,
Security Council with the Kuwaiti
resolution. Our Permanent

Representative was not in New York but was in London on his way to

Baghdad.
Representative.

So the meeting was attended by our Deputy Permanent
_ I was not invited. r
jumped to Chapter 7 immediately for the first time in history.

And the Secretary General
So

the situation in the region was that the forces of one state
crossed into the territory of another. ‘But the same thing had
happened before tens of times and the Security Council never

jumped to Chapter 7.

of a foreign matter without the Foreign Minister.

-
.

" Baker

On previous occasion was there a discussion

Why?

Because of the heinous nature of your. act.

Aziz: No. Whatever your justification when you'ﬁeht.intb

Panama, many condemnations were issued By your &llies,

" But . you

have a veto in the Security Council which makes it impossible to

pass a resolution against you.

Is it possible for a resdlution to

be passed without inviting the parties? . It was a judgment in

absentia.

You are a man of the law.

If a citizen is judged

without béing invited to the court proceedings and with no. lawyer,
then the judgment would not be valid. The citizen would still

“have the right to appeal.
_applicable to countries.

Whatever applies to & citizen should be
On Resolution 242, Israel, Jordan, Egypt
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and the Soviets all worked for weeks on the wording of that
resolution, But on 660, it was not done that way. You said on
598 we didn't want to renegotiate, but the negotiations started in
January, 1987, and the resolution wasn't adopted until September
after you worked with Moscow, Paris, Bonn and others. The
Iranians also discussed it indirectly. We are talking about a
resolution that expresses credibility taking in all matters
expressed by the parties concerned.

\//'5>On August 3 we said that we would withdraw and you said it was a
lie.

Baker: Turned out it was.

Aziz: We said it but you judged it was not true. Another
resolution was passed three or four days later. Then a series of
resolutions. We have no problem with the Security Council as a
institution to maintain peace, fairness and justice if it were to
address all issues and deal with all parties equitably, and all
parties were able to defend themselves. .

Baker: Let me respond to your fallacious legal argument.
First, when you joined the UN we all signed on to Security Council
procedures. The rules and procedures were followed throughout the
adoption of each resolution. That the first was adopted in a
short time you are guite right, because the world was and remains
shocked, indeed outraged, at what you did. A few days later you .
said that you would withdraw; you said you would but you didn‘t.
So we were right. Then you said that you had been invited in, and
no onée believed it then, and no one belleves it now, and you have
dropped that pretense. :

So you can't have a new world order or an institution charged
with world peace and security that operates on principles and have
countries and pick and choose the resolutions they like, and
respect ones they do and not those they don't. Your Deputy
Representatlve was there and the world felt your - action in Kuwait
justified @ jump to Chapter 7. That was voted. .There was a.
General Assembly debate as well, and every member voted one: way
and Iraq voted differently. Iraq was represented’ and
participated. There were two meetings at the foreign minister
level You were- 1nv1ted to and chose not to attend.

Aziz: I was not 1nv1ted.

.Bﬁhﬁ_' You were but the flrst one you refused to come to
because we would not let your plane come to the U, S._




Aziz: That was my General Assembly appearance.

Baker: You were represented in both Foreign Mimisters meetings
by your Perm Rep. We refused to approve your aircraft because
Irag was holding hostage innocent civilians and diplomats in
violation of all rules of international conduct. That behavior
has not helped your situation. I could not meet with you for
hours and not mention it. It was not accepted by anyone.

Aziz: The way that you dealt with me was not acdceptable. I am
the Foreign Minister of a sovereign state. 1 usually come to the
UN, and the Headquarters happens to be in a U.S. city, I wanted to
come in my private jet as before. ’

Baker: Usually we would have had no objection, but when you
were holding Americans against their will it was hard for us to
accept you,

Aziz: Yes, but I am the Foreign Minister of a sovereign state.

Baker: We fully complied with the headquarters agfeement
offering to let you come, but so long as you *held* people as
human shields and others, not with your airplane.

Aziz: The Secretary General was also forced to move the
General Assembly to Geneva because Arafat was not allowed in.

Baker: He didn't ask to come. Heé didn't request a visa.

Aziz: He had come in 197#‘as a ‘permanent observer, but then
~ you announced you would not give him a visa.

Baker: That wasn't this Administration, that was the Reagan
Administration. Let me correct you one more time, I was a
private citizen in November of 1988 working on the Préesidential
campaign and far removed from this. -After that the PLO renounced
terrorism and our. dialogue began.’ D : EEE

One more word, a question. Have you seen the Amnesty
International's report on Irag's occupation of Kuwait?

Aziz: It is fraught with false allegations. I admit some
incidents occurred as a result of the mdjor change that happened
in the presence of a number of foreigners. I reécall during the:
New York City blackout in that one night there were acts of murder

and looting and you are a civilized country. 8o what if there is




a change of political system in a country whose population
represents less than one quarter of the total population of which
the rest are foreigners? Kuwaiti mansions were filled with
attractive ornaments. 1In one case the house was left with an
Indian servant while the Kuwaitl owners were summering in the
Riveria. There was a change in authority so the Indian felt free
to take whatever he wanted.

Baker: Are you saying the Indians did all this?

Aziz: Some Iragis who committed any such acts were executed in
public and we sentenced officers in our armed forces. Your
criticism doesn't include any balance on our part or appeasement
of robbery. ’

Baker: Amnesty International is a responsible non-partisan
organization. I have followed events closely and have seen no
mention of discipline on the part of Iragi soldiers or officers.

Aziz: They were published in the U.S. press.

Baker: It is importaht to let someone have that information.
That report is very condemnatory. '

~ Aziz: Did you know that in the previous system in Kuwait there
were three grades of nationals?

Baker: I heard that.

Aziz: It is like South Africa and now the civilized world has
passed sanctions against them, but Amnesty -International never
referred to this. I regret you dre sending your sons to defend
these regimes. ‘ e - oo

Baker: The principle of not rewarding unprovoked aggression is
very important, and'we.can't and won't sit idly by and see
political change through aggression whether we like the form of
the government of this small invaded country or not. . That is not
the issue, One effects political change through dialogue and .
negotiation and not aggression. h ' S - :

‘Aziz: Let me explain about. provocation. We published a
document on provocation and a video...The next time we have
discussions, I will ask Dennis to-join our team because his theory
in describing the 1967 events allows ‘the states to take action it
“sees fit if it is threatened. "If the question of:a legal dispute,
we are prepared to enter any discussion on the legal dispute. :We
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never had a chance to talk to with you until today, nor with your
other allies, Europeans. We have only talked with two Security
Council members, the Soviets and Chinese, and we had no chance to
attend the Security Council to present our case on 'the first day,
I don't expect to convince you on our case but at least I have
presented it. .

Whatever our differences on events over the past 30-40 years,
we announced we were ready to accept the judgment of international
legitimacy and rules of fairness and justice when applied to all
cases with our participation and the participation of the parties
concerned to give us a chance to present our case and others
theirs in a civilized, justified manner so we are not treated on
the basis of a double standard. So on these principles we are
ready to work with you to establish the comprehensive, justified
peace in the region and to create a new world order.

Baker: Let me refer to something you said I said this morning
when I was turning from the: darker side to the light., Let me
repeat there will bBe no negotiation of these resolutions. Whether
you agree to adopt them or not, the international community has.
adopted them. I listened carefully to what you said today, and I
appreciate the tone and spirit of what you have said, and I hope
you feel the samé. I listened to your response on what might
happen in the event of a conflict. Permit me in the spirit of -
trying to inform not to threaten, to say a word on that. I know
you believe based on your experience in your war with Iran that.
you know what the cost of a war with the international community
would be. I don't doubt your conviction one minute or your belief
that you know what you are up against. But don't let your
military commanders convince you that your strategy against- Iran
will work against us in the international coalition. .You are
facing an entirely different kind of force. I have heard you
think that if you can stretch out the conflict and you can cause
many casualties, we won't be able to continue, Our very strong
belief is that that won't happen. It is important for me to say
this. I don't say it to threaten, merely to state what we regard
Lo be reality. 'Its important that you understand that reality.
Because of the superiority of our forces we will dictate the terms

of the confliect -- not you.

I don't say this becatse you or we don't appreciate the cost of
war. - I am sure we both do, but you must-make your calculations on
the most informed basis. - o : ‘

, Let me cohclude,by saying wé have had a serious conversgation
here today. We are here in good faith.seeking a peaceful -
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resolution and while I know you don't agree, for us and our
coalition partners let me say in the strongest terms possible that
midnight January 15th is very real. Time runs out six days from
now. We can't and won't agree to an extension or 4 postponement.
Whether you choose to believe this or not is your business.

15 MINUTE BREAK AGREED TO AT 4:55 P.M.

SESSION RESUMED 5:15 P.M.

Baker: You may want to respond to my last points, but first
let me make two quick points that I started to make earlier and
that I want for the record. You mentioned Panama. I hope you ,
note the speed that we got out. I suggest it 'to you as an example.

Second, let me ask you as a diplomatic colleague for your
personal assurance that Joe Wilson and the four remaining
diplomats may leave our Embassy on January 12 without undue delay

or proceduresd,

Aziz: Mr. Secretary, you referred in the latter part of your
statement to the differences between our war with Iran and the
confrontation between us. I addressed this beforé and it is
mutual, but there is no harm in referxring to it again for the
purpose of clarification, Our military and our commanders are
courageous men but they are not irrational. They have long
experience in war. They have long experience in identifying the
efficiency of any weapon, be it in the air force, navy or land
forces. They follow your deployments and concentrations
carefully, and they have accurate studies on your weaponry. The
war between us and Iran is different from any confrontation that
_you may carry out against us. We know that. The war with Iran

was no picnic. It was difficult with all the sense that the word -
difficult implies —- militarily, politically, psychologically.
Despite this, we could take the burden and come out of that war
victorious. We aren't going to be the judge of the amount of your
capacity to shoulder the results of war, .and by the same nature it
is not correct for you to judge our capacity to shoulder war. We
have our experience and assessments, and most importantly -we know
how determined we are. ' o ' - -

We feel unjustly treated. This is our feeling, and when a
feeling like this is generated -amongst a people and war .is imposed
‘upon it, then the people will fight.  Yes, you are a huge power.
and, with you you have the capability of other countries,. but.
don't doubt the determination of our people to stand fast. We
live in a region interconnected in feelings, history, and =
religion. This unfolds huge complications if a war is taken by an
Arab, Muslim country and a foreign power like you.




Baker: But you will be fighting Arabs.

Aziz: I will come to this. We know the forces .of some Arab
states. are there. But in the spirit of friendship that has
prevailed in this meeting, you have given me some information in
the form of advice. 8o I give you this assessment in the form of
advice. When war erupts between a Muslim/Arab state and a foreign
power (like the U.S., UK) then soldiers won't remember they are
fighting for UN Security Council resolutions. This has serious
_importance in peace time. The importance of resolutions prevails

among politicians, diplomats, lawyers, and journalists. Once a
people enter battle and fire and blood is spilled, then people go
back to their origins and behave instinctively. I am saying this
based on our recent experiences. .

Only two and a half years ago we were fighting a war and we
have this experience, which is why U.S. forces won't eliminate
us, The major fact is that the war will be between Irag and the
U.S8. Yes, there are some British forces, but limited, the French
less, and the others even less. As for the Syrians, Egyptians and
other Arabs, their leaders may say they will fight on your side,
but in our region soldiers don't fight according to command but.
are motivated by conviction. You are different, TYour state is
well-established, you have a two hundred year old government.
Maybe it is a system in which war management makes. a soldier fight
whether politically convinced or not. 1In our region it is
different. All past experience substantiates this. Let me tell
you honestly that because of the background of your relationship
with Israel, if you were to conduct action against an Arab state
their feeling would be one of hostility threatening the region and
the Islamic countries, - B

On a purely military level, it is true we are not a superpower,
nor would we ever claim such status. We know our size well, but
we have important power. This force is on our territory, fighting
on oir territory. ' ' S C

Baker: Are you including Kuwait in that definition?

Aziz: You haven't gone those distances by tvar or on horse or
camel. The areas are very similar in the nature of their
terrain. Geographically in the Tigres and Euphrates Basin and the
south in Saudi Arabia there is desert, - Some-parts are real =
desert. Our territory is not a real .desert because when it rains
grass grows. But because they. lack water ‘these areas. are seen as
desert. Hence, Mr. Secretary, weé don't want war but we~are not
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afraid of war whatever it means, with all the means, weapons and
capability you have. I am not saying this from a position of
arrogance. Rather I say it for two reasons: 1) the earlier reason
that we have lived with war and its threats for decdades and our
region has been living in a state of despair and frustration for a
long while, The feeling of the people toward life is fatalistic.
Their attitude toward death is fatalistic, part of which is from
religious conviction. The ethic of both Christian and Muslims is
to believe in a better after-life. This is in both the Bible and
the Koran. People in our part of the world take it seriously. As
-a human fact, when man fails to find satisfaction on earth then
death i5 easy. This is a human fact, Humanitarian facts remain
relative. Whenever one is possessed with a better life, then
there is a stronger feeling for life., We for the past decades are
used to dying because of disputes in the region particularly
between Arabs and Israel. We are used to dying in portions or
installments.

As I explained the situatioén in 1990, I was sincere. We
believe the situation in the region was heading toward a new cycle
of death because of the threats I explained to you from Israel,
and the tragic¢ situation of the people in the Occupied
Territories, That was the situation Iraq found itself in. For
all these factors, we have a feeling of comfort and assuredness
and a sense of satisfaction that war is a destiny. 1t is a
destiny that will take some to their death and others will survive.

S0 from a political point of view, the region has not
experienced in its history a political regime that has entered
into a battle with the Unitead States or Israel and lost
politically. Take Nasser's experience. Nasser was dealt a strong
defeat. That defeat could rnot be justified.” We as Arabs know it
was not justified. So he resigned. But the masses forced him
back. When he left the political arena, it was not from a coup or
a revolution, he died of :natural causes, This is a faét that has
to be taken into accourt,

We.are willing in good faith to reach an amicable, peaceful
solution, but we deeply believe and our conviction can't be |
shaken, that no peace can be achieved so long as the Palestinian:
-question is unresolved in a just manner. This is our experience
of 40 to 50 years. That is my experience first in primary school
as & student until now as Foreign Minister, No one ‘can convince’
me that peace will be found withquk”a‘PQIQSﬁiniaﬁ'Solution,' Will
the solution to this problem achieve peace? . ‘ B
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Baker: The resolution of 'this problem may not achieve peace
between the Arabs and Israel, but it will prevent a destructive
war -- mostly destructive for Iraq.

Aziz: A few years ago, we fought a war with Iran. It is over
and there is still no peace in the region. We told you last April .
we expected Israel to strike. You said you can exert your
traditional effort when this problem is resolved to resolve the
Arab/Israeli problem. -You referred to your previous efforts.
Honestly, we don't believe these promises. Please don't take this
badly. This is the feeling of Iraq, Algeria, the Palestinians.
This is how we feel.

Baker: I was not making a promise to get you to comply with
the UN resolutions. I was just stating facts. :

Aziz: But you referred to President Bush's remarks at the
United Nations.

Baker: I was not stating this as a condition of your
complying, I was just stating what our position has been.

Aziz: We have been hearing this from different sources. Since
this last development, you have visited the region many times. I
don‘t recall that you visited the area before August 2nd. No one
visited Irag except Ambassador Kelly.

Baker: I visited as Secretary of the Treasury, but not as
Secretary of State. But a few things have happened and I have
_ been working on US/Soviet relations, German Reunification, Eastern
Europe... - ' ) : ’

Aziz: I know that you have been busy, and our problen has been
at the bottom of your priorities. . :

.. Baker! But you have put it at the top since August 2.7
Minister, I was quite serious when I told- you -abdut my vigorodus:
efforts to bring about an Israeli/Palestinian dialogue. A lot 'was
done and we were close. I spent a.great deal of my time on what.
vou identified as the one major regional problem for 14 months.

~ Aziz: I have a different assessment.  Egypt and the PLO. kept
us in the .picture daily. 'We know what was said and done and-our
assessment at the time was that this would not bring a just -
solution, but was a time-buying measure at 'a time when Israel was
establishing settlements, strengthening its grip on the =~ .
territories and dealing with Soviet immigration.. .
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Baker: I didn't engage in this as a time-buying exercise.
Maybe I was led along, but that is not why I was engaged for 14
months. ’

Aziz: I don't speak of intention. I am speaking of results.
I know you've said January 15 is real. We don't argue with that,
but we don't recognize the last Security Council resolution or the
eatlier ones because they are unjust and iniquitous and passed in
absentia. So this date is up to you. The situation is still
unchanged, I have told you since the beginning we expected
military action. You and Mrs. Thatcher said Article 51 of the
Charter was sufficient for such action. We took these statements
seriously. Now I am happy we have met. It is true the
differences between us are deep, but at least we have been able to
exchange views. If this had happened earlier, then maype we would
have been better able to achleve results, HNow you've set a

- .deadline.

Baker: The international community set the deadline 45 days
ago. .

Aziz: Now we are 6 days away from that deadline. We're not
_far from it, If we are to contemplate a serious process, there
isn't sufficient time for it. I don't know what this date means
to you. If you mean that after it, you'll be in a position to
wage war, you can do so. If you are interested in further
dialogue, there can be further talks. Once you come to a
conclusion that you have to go to war, it's up to you to do so. I
have a proposal: President Bush previously suggested I should
come to Washington and you should go-to Baghdad. We accepted this
but differed on the dates. Let me’ repeat; I'll make a visit to
Washington., You suggest the date for that and we'll agree. You
can then visit Baghdad on a date we propose. '

: I personally find it 1mportant that I meet with Pr651dent Bush
¢ that I can convey my impressions to my:President.  Since
neither of our Presidents know the other, each hears much about
the other from differént sources. And those sources have their -
own motives, You could meet with President Hussein and take your
impressions of him back to President Bush. This process ¢ould be
useful, It's a proposal I leava for you to con81der. :

. Baker: Minister, this is the flrst proposal from your side for
_dlrect dlscu581ons and it comes 6 dayé before the deadline. When
President Bush made his proposal, he was willing to see you on-
December 17, even though that was the week aftex we' d proposed.
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We suggested you pick any 1 of 15 days for my visit. But you said
only 1 day was acceptable and that was 72 hours before the
deadline,

We believed before, and I'll say this to you now, that we feel
you selected that late date because you wanted to manipulate the
deadline. The President said we would not be a party to such
manipulation, and we won't be. ‘

Let me say to you in the aftermath of your withdrawal from
Kuwait and the restoration of the Kuwaiti government, I'd be
pleased to visit Baghdad. ’

Before you respond to this, could I hear from you on the
question I posed on the unimpeded departure of Joe Wilson and our
other 4 diplomats? ' Then you might explain your problem with the
15 days we gave you.

Aziz: We truly did not understand your pos1t10n on the issue
of dates. You proposed a meeting with me coming to Washlngton -and
you going to Baghdad. The President proposed the end of the
second half of the week of December 10. My colleagues and I in
the Foreign Ministry looked at the dates available, and we
discovered that started with a Thursday.

. ﬂghggz Actually, Wednesday, Thursday, or Friday would have
been ockay. We were waiting for me to get back from Houston with

Shevardnadze.

Aziz: If I had gone on Wednesday, then Shamir would have still
been there. Shevardnadze would also have been there. I realized
you'd be busy, but I also dldn t want to .be in Washington when

Shamir was there.
- Baker: We said come on December 17.

- BAziz: The fllght time takes.a ‘whole day so to come on
Thursday, that would have meant meeting with the President on
Friday and 'seeing friends over the weekend. ‘That would not have
been helpful, I wanted the weekend to rest and then to have.
meetings, so we proposed December 17. We proposed your visit on
the 12th. You became upset You 1nterpreted 1t as manlpulatlon
You could have come on the 1l2th. .

- Baker: You could_have had any oné of -15 days, .
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Aziz: You could have come. You never came to hear what we had
to say. You could have gone back to Washington and then midnight
on the 1S5th, started a war. We didn't know why. Through our
mutual friend Genscher we said the rule that can be respected by
both sides is to have each President decide the date to receive
the counterpart envoy. Then we would have been prepared to
propose a date for your visit closer to the 12th.

Baker: That was not communicated to us. If you wanted a
process, why not pick a date between December 20 and January 37

The President gave you 15 dates.

Aziz: President Bush's initial proposal said he intended to
send Secretary Baker at a time between December ;5 and January 15.

Baker: The President‘'s proposal said at a mutually convenient
time. It was not a mutually cornvenient time for you to receive me
before the 12th or me to go after the 3rd., Your President had the
time to see Mohammad Ali, John Connally, Kurt Waldheim, Ted Heath
and others, but he did not have time in 15 days to receive the US
Secretary of State. But that was your call., We made an offer of
December 13, 14 or 15 for you and accepted your date of December
17. And I was available for 15 days. You chose not to accept.

So I am not going to Baghdad, and there is no point in arguing.

Aziz: Well, for all those visits.we had prior notification and
they spent several days waiting. Your visit was different.
Anyway, we are willing and desire to continue these talks. We
desire that I meet with President Bush and you meet with President
Saddam. If you have decided on war, then you can implement that

decision any time.

Baker: -‘We have not takéen any such decision. But the war
started on August 2nd. We. want to reverse your aggression against
a sinall Arab nation, Five months and twelve UN resolutions have
now passed. So the time for talk is fast closing., It is time for
acktion by Irag to observe the UN resolutions. . o




Aziz: I have a gquestion Mr. Secretary. Why 4o you not
encourage an. Arab solution?

Baker: I am not sure what it is. Many Arab states tell us
that it is the UN resolutions. We're working on a solution
supported by 6 or 7 Gulf Arab states, Syria, Egypt and Morocco. I
am not aware that any Arab state voted with you in the General
Assembly. All have condemned the invasion of Kuwait, even Sudan,
Yemen, and Jordan who are with you in some way, and have not
supported all the Security Council resolutions. You have been
isslated. But even your friends have all condemned your.
invasion. So what does an Arab solution mean?

Aziz: First, if you are talking about the decision at the
Cairo summit, this decision was null and void. Ask your legal
advisor to look at Article 6 whieh stipulates unanimity. This was
a farce, a fias¢co. ‘There was an Arab solution in Lebanon with the

" Taif agreement. So there is a history of past Arab solutions you

have supported. Let me explain why the Arab solution is
justified. A number of Arab leaders should meet in the first
place and they should include Iraq and Saudi Arabia to think about
solutions, and then these solutions should be put before
international institutions later. 1I met with President Saleh
after you, and he said he told you you had interfered in the Rabat

-meeting with King Hassan and President Bendjedid to prevent any

such developments, and that was how it died. What prevails is the
notion that the United States stands against an Arab solution, I
have to ask, why not try to test it this way?

Baker: There can be an Arab solution if Iraq should withdraw

from Kuwait as the international community requested five months
ago. BSome of the Arabs sought a- solutlon before August 2nd but

you would not accept it.
Aziz: That is not true.
- Baker: Okay. But the majority. of the Arabs’ voted against you

" in this international body. They support the 1mplementat1on of.
'thege resolutions.

Aziz: At the UN Security Council thére'is only-one‘Afab~

-country and it-didn't take part in all the votes.

Baker: How do you expléin the General Aésembly vote?
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2ziz: We know how the vote was taken. It was not serious. We
know the real position of the Arabs. .We are in contact with Oman’
and Oman supports an Arab solution, Yemen is for an Arab solution,
Jordan is for an Arab solution, Libya is for an Arab solution, and
Morocco, Tunisia, Algeria, Sudan, Mauritania, and the Palestinians.

il i ST 0 o t._

Baker: There have been a lot of efforts for an Arab solution,
Aziz: Who impedes it?

Baker: You do by saying Kuwait is a part of Iraq. Yemen voted
for most of these resolutions except the last. I am sorry to have
this dlsagreement. I told you the President has not made the
decision on u51ng force. But don't misread that, and I don't
think you do, since you said you have been expectlng military
action for a long time. 1In any case, the deadllne is real,
Midnight January 15 is real.

It's been clear over the last 45 days that there would not be
an attack for the period leading up to January 15. There would be
no attack until the UN deadline was met. But we are running out
of time. Maybe what you refer to as destiny ‘may happen. Indeed,
that would be unfortunate, but the deadline is real.

We aren't at this late date, after you have sat for five
months, about to initiate a process as we are now up against this
deadline. We have been open about that from the beginning. I
said I would come on any one of 15 days. In fact, there were 17
days I could have come on if you count from the dates we. offered
you. We said give us a day convenient for us to go there and you
coutld comeé to the US on December 17th. - Bub that is all history
now. The President has spoken to this and said you didn't take
our original offer so there will be no trip to Baghdad.

Aziz: That is your decision. I can't ignore the magnltude,
the seriousness of the fact that the only meeting between us 15
belng done 1n 11ght of the threat.of a deadline. '

Eﬁhe;:' That has been the fact for 40 days.

pziz: I don't c¢laim to be an expert on the history of -
diplomacy but there is no precedent of this kind in which the
thinking for a peaceful solution or a grave. solution’ for a grave
problem in a volatile region where the.problem.and - -the dangers are
intermingled. And you come to say that this must be addressed in
. 4% or 1% or 6 days. Theré is no precedent, Political and-
. diplomatic work have rules. The partles connected w1th polltlcal
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work must feel they are not threatened by a time guillotine, a
hammer, so they can think constructively and in a manner that
opens prospects for the future. They should not have to be
thinking of a decision taken under pressure. That-.would not be
peace, it would be capitulation. We can not accept this.

I have explalned the fundamental reasons for our position. We
want a peaceful solution based on justice, fairness, and
international legitimacy.

Baker: It took you two days to occupy Kuwait five months ago.
I am glad we have had an opportunity to discuss this but I am
disappointed that we have found no recipe for a peaceful
solution., I suppose you are too. If you are- suggesting that that
will take a long time because of the other problems, you know our
view. We won't link other problems, but we will work to resolve
these other problems with the same diligence as we have in the
past.

I must ask you to respect the decisioh of the international
body and withdraw. I also still don't have an answer on Joe
Wilson.

dziz: Forgive me, I didn't mean not to respond. We shall
abide by international law in this regard.

Baker: Thank you for that.

Aziz: On the llnkage, if military action were to happen, then
all parties in the region will take part. Why not have them sit
before the war? If these partles take part, after a while, the

war will end in two months, ' six months or two years -+~ we don't
want to indulge in the time it will take’ but we are confident it
will be a long war —- but after it ends, will the region be left

in peace? Will the region be left for more wars? If the answver
is, there must be peace, those partles must s1t together to make
peace. So why not do it now? : o

Eﬁhegf Or why didn't they do it on. December 20th, 21st 22nd,

23rd, 24th, 25th, 26th, 27th, 28th, 29th, 30th, 31st;, January 1st,

2nd,,3rd.

C Aziz: Not Just Iraq and the - Unlted States, but the other '
parties that will take part -- the- US, Iraq, Saudl Arabla, Israel

and the others.




Baker: If you observe the UN Security Council resolutions,
then many things can happen. If not, if you say no, it's ours and
we intend to keep it, then don't think we can be asked to talk
beyond 5 and a half months. Maybe such a deadline-is
unprecedented, I haven't researched it. But there has never been
the kind of international coalition before that is united against
you. That's unprecedented. It is not just the United States.
There is no daylight between us and our coalition partners. Some
talk about linkage, but not a significant portion of those with
forces ‘in the region. Frankly, there is no desire for that on the
part of most of the 28 countries, even the ones that would
entertain the idea. If something happens after the 15th, their
forces will be there and they will be committed. I submit there
is an unprecedented degree of commitment by the international
community. I don't say this to be critical, but you are isolated
in a way no one has been for a long time.

Thank. you for your assurances for our diplomats. I am asking
that they be allowed to leave January 12,

Aziz: On linkage, I've heard more than one statement from you
and President Bush, saying you are not prepared to reward
aggression and not prepared to give the prize to Saddam Husse€in.
We don't see the issue as prize winning, You in the United States
are a huge and powerful and rich country, there are problems in
the world important to you. But you have neéver had a time when
your capital was hit by missiles or there were air raids against
you, as in the case of Cairo, Amman, or Baghdad. 8o the issue of
peace is not one of a prize. It is not for us to go to Stockholm
to receive the Nobel Prize. What is at stake is a matter of life
and death. Are we going to live in the future in dignity as a
nation for our people in the years to come? Or endure killing?
So if tlie United States wants to establish-a comprehensive peace
in the region, let the prize be yours. "Qurs will be to. live in
dignity.

Baker: You would better be able to live'in dignity. if you
agree 'to observe.the resolutions and then have your discussion

with whomever ‘you think appropriate. We can't condition.-
compliance with the 1nternat10nal resolutions among other factors_

.and issues.

Aziz: We agree that 1t should . be that all resolutlons adopted
by the UN -are respected. But Israel has not respected any .
resolutions, yet there is no embargo -against Israel So is this
an effort to 1mplement resolutlons or punlsh Iraq?

N s v s
. I e Tt

LSS |

4

63222




Nor am I interested in indulging in a discussion of Resolution
660. We don't recognize it. But negotiations are a basic factor

in the Resolution,

Baker: Yes, 660 contains & reference to settling differeﬁces
after withdrawal,

Am r al- i: You didn't move to ensure compliance with
242, '

Baker: The circumstdnces of that occupation were totally
different and we don't need to rehash details of who fired the
first shot, or maintained large forces or made threats to push
them into the sea. The fact is, Israel fought a defensive war
with a number of countrles. Yout didn't. . Here you are the major
military power in the region with a disproport;onate power and
weapons of mass destruction. You invade, occupy and brutalize a
small neighboring Arab state. I see those as the differences in
how this came about. You simply can't compare that with 1967.
There is a fundamental difference.

Aziz: It is clear that here is the double-standard. But I

won't indulge in words. You rule out negotiations in this case.

Baker: We said all along that your differences should be
resolved with Kuwait by negotiations not force., UNSC Resolution
660 calls for your immediate withdrawal and negotiations to
resolve the differences between Irag and Kuwait.

Ambassador al-Qaysi: It calls for 51mu1taneous negotiations.

immitt: No, its sequent1a1. Flrst wlthdrawal, then

negotiations. Immediate withdrawal is called for in the first
operative sentence, that's followed by the call for negotiations.

' m 'S - i; It's in the same sentence, nothlng is
said about" sequence. You don t judge that by the place in the

~ sentence,

Ross: Does that mean you're prepared to withdrawrand start

negotiations with the legitimate Kuwaiti goﬁernment?

Aziz: Will you respect the other UNSC resolutlons? You direct
your attention toward us, not the Israelis. ‘You take no steps to
implement broader peace. You didn' t 1ntroduce your forces except
agalnst us, you haven't followed up on -peace. -
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Ross: We brokered the only major agreement on the Arab/Israel
conflict, one that had Israel get out of the whole Sinai. And you

opposed that.

Kimmitt: US ground forces have been in the region a decade. A
battalion of the 10l1st Airborne Division is in the Sinai to ensure
the securlty arrangements of Camp ‘David are implemented, contrary
to your point that we have not followed up.

Aziz: The fact is that Arab lands have been occupied for 23
Years now. The Golan Heights was annexed by Israel, and Jerusalem
was annexed, an offensive Israel decision. Shamir talks about the
lands of Judea and Samaria, while settlements, killings and other
brutalltles are going on.

We joined the UN because it was founded for justice and peace.
We feel pain knowing that the last resolution was adopted because
you did not veto it. The fact is that you have always given
Israel political protection through your veto. If Iraq was a
Soviet puppet then none of these resolutions would have passed.
But we are poor, we have no patron to protect us.

Baker: So, because of a supposed double-standard in the US,
you think it is justifiable for Iraq to invade and brutalize a
small Arab neighbor to get even with Israel for its occupation of
the territories.

Aziz: On aggression, Irag warned against it. We sent a memo
to the Arab League, President Saddam Hussein gave a speech at the
Arab Summit and on National Day he also mentioned it. Our country
warned that these threats would 1ead us.-to act.

Baker: We have the transcrlpts of what King Hussein said to
President Bush.

Charles: I was mistaken earlier when I. sald the President
talked once before the invasion to King Hussein. Actually, they
spoke twice. Once on July 28 ‘and then again oh July 31. The -
transcrxpts of these conversations are usually verbatim. On July
28 the President said, “I am worried. I certainly hope the
situation doesn't get out of hand."™ K1ng Hussein sdid, “There is
no possibility of that happening. It won't come to that ¥ Oon .
July 31, King Hussein said, “The Iraqis are angry, but I belleve
hopefully somethlng can be worked out £o the beneflt of greater
cooperation in the area.® - The President asked, "Without any
fighting?" And the King answered, "Yes sir. That_will_be the
case." : L
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Aziz: Yes, but we and King Hussein hoped the Jeddah talks
would end in an agreement. We were hopeful ourselves that the
Jeddah talks would achieve a stride forward. We were disappointed
it 'did not. But it made clear Kuwait was going ahead with its
schemes and that was why we were going to act.

Baker: But what about what King Hussein said?

Aziz: King Hussein said that Iraq was angry but that he
expected no military action. We did not tell him we were going to
attack. Mubarak was wrong. God knows the reason, but President
Mubarak was using disinformation. '

Baker: Minister, I am finished. I have nothing more. We have
covered a lot of ground. How do you want to handle the press? I
am prepared to do whatever you want -- whether you want to g0
first or you want me to. )

Aziz: Why don't you go first,

Baker: Okay. I will take a few minutes to prepare and then go
first. Mr, Minister, is it your intention not to take the letter?

Aziz: Yes.

January 9, 1991, 7:00 p.m., meeting concluded.




